

# DIVISION MEETING OF THE MERCED ACADEMIC SENATE THURSDAY, APRIL 23, 2015

3:00-5:00 p.m. Chancellor's Conference Room 232 Kolligian Library

## ORDER OF BUSINESS

VIII.	PETITIONS OF STUDENTS	
VII.	SENATE AWARDS	10 min
VI.	STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS  Graduate Council, Chair Kathleen Hull (oral) Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, Chair Anne Kelley Committee on Academic Personnel, Vice Chair David Kelley (oral) Committee on Committees, Chair Patricia LiWang (oral) Committee on Research, Chair David Noelle (oral) Committee on Rules and Elections, Chair Peter Vanderschraaf (oral) Faculty Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom, Chair Rudy Ortiz (oral) Undergraduate Council, Chair Jack Vevea (oral)	30 min
V.	<b>2015-2016 DIVISION CHAIR, VICE CHAIR, AND SECRETARY/PARLIAMENTARIAN</b> CoC Chair LiWang	10 min
IV.	<ul> <li>DISCUSSION ITEMS-CRE Chair Vanderschraaf</li> <li>A. New Committee Formation: The Division Council approved the split of the Faculty Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom Committee and the creation of the Committee on Library and Scholarly Communications effective Fall 2015.</li> <li>B. Proposed Division Committee Bylaw Changes pp.17-65</li> </ul>	20 min
III.	CONSULTATION WITH CHANCELLOR LELAND and PROVOST/EVC PETERSON A. Strategic Academic Focusing B. Project 2020	25 min
II.	CONSENT CALENDAR  A. Approval of Draft Minutes of the November 14, 2014 Meeting pp.5-16	
I.	ANNOUNCEMENTS  A. Division Chair Jian-Qiao Sun  B. Academic Council Chair Mary Gilly	25 min

IX.	UNFINISHED BUSINESS
X.	NEW BUSINESS
, 2.	11211 200111200
	ems deemed non-controversial by the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Division, in consultation with onal Council, may be placed on a Consent Calendar under Special Orders. Should the meeting not
	orum, the Consent Calendar would be taken as approved. (Quorum = the lesser of 40% or 50
	of the Division.) At the request of any Divisional member, any Consent Calendar item is extracted
tor consid	eration under "New Business" later in the agenda.
	Peter Vanderschraaf
	Secretary/Parliamentarian

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Glossary of Senate Acronyms

ACSCANR Academic Council Special Committee on Agriculture & Natural Resources

ACSCOLI Academic Council Special Committee on Lab Issues

BOARS Board of Admissions and Relations with Schools

CCGA Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs

EDIT Editorial

UCAF <u>University Committee on Academic Freedom</u>
UCAP <u>University Committee on Academic Personnel</u>

UCAAD <u>University Committee on Affirmative Action and Diversity</u>

UCCC <u>University Committee on Computing and Communications</u>

UCEP University Committee on Educational Policy

UCOC <u>University Committee on Committees</u>

UCFW University Committee on Faculty Welfare

TFIR Faculty Welfare Task Force on Investment and Retirement

UCFW-TF Faculty Welfare Task Force on the Future of UC Health Care Plans

UCIE <u>University Committee on International Education</u>

UCOLASC University Committee on Library and Scholarly Communication

UCPB <u>University Committee on Planning and Budget</u>

UCOPE <u>University Committee on Preparatory Education</u>

UCPT <u>University Committee on Privilege and Tenure</u>

UCORP University Committee on Research Policy

UCRJ University Committee on Rules and Jurisdiction

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

## 2014-2015 SENATE COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS

DIVISION COUNCIL

Jian-Qiao Sun, Chair (SOE), COUNCIL

Cristián Ricci, Vice Chair (SSHA)

Peter Vanderschraaf, CRE Chair, Secretary/Parliamentarian (SSHA)

Jack L. Vevea, UGC Chair (SSHA)

Patricia LiWang, CoC Chair (SNS)

Theofanis "Fanis" Tsoulouhas, CAP Member (SSHA)

Kathleen Hull, GC Chair (SSHA)

Anne M. Kelley, CAPRA Chair (SNS)

Rudy Ortiz, FWDAF Chair (SNS)

David Noelle, COR Chair (SSHA)

Robin DeLugan, At-Large (SSHA) Assembly

Thomas Hansford, At-Large (SSHA) Assembly Alternate

#### COMMITTEE ON ACADEMIC PERSONNEL

Raymond Gibbs, Chair (UC Santa Cruz)

David F. Kelley, Vice Chair (SNS), UCAP

Theofanis "Fanis" Tsoulouhas (SSHA)

Michael Modest, (SOE)

Michelle Yeh (UC Davis)

Gary Jacobson (UC San Diego)

John Leslie Redpath (UC Irvine)

Rajiv Singh (UC Davis)

## COMMITTEE ON ACADEMIC PLANNING AND RESOURCE ALLOCATION

Anne M. Kelley, Chair (SNS), UCPB

Joshua Viers, Vice Chair, (SOE)

Mukesh Singhal, (SOE)

Jan Wallander (SSHA)

Marilyn Fogel (SNS)

Cristián Ricci, Senate Vice Chair, (SSHA)

Ex-Officio: Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE),

Danielle Bermudez (GSA) & Daisy Pelayo-Figueroa (ASUCM)

#### **COMMITTEE ON COMMITTEES**

Patricia LiWang, Chair (SNS), UCOC

Erik Menke, Vice Chair (SNS)

Wei-Chun Chin, (SOE)

Kara McCloskey (SOE)

Paul Gibbons (SSHA)

Kevin Mitchell (SNS)

Anna Song (SSHA)

Alex Whalley (SSHA)

Ex-Officio: Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE),

#### COMMITTEE ON RESEARCH

David Noelle, Chair (SSHA), UCORP

Deborah Wiebe, Vice Chair, (SSHA) UCOLASC

Jason Hein (SNS)

YangQuan Chen (SOE)

Masashi Kitazawa, (SNS)

Ex-Officio: Samuel J. Traina, VC for Research & Economic

Development, Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE) & Cristián Ricci,

Senate Vice Chair (SSHA)

### COMMITTEE ON RULES AND ELECTIONS

Peter Vanderschraaf, Chair & Secretary/Parliamentarian (SSHA)

Lin Tian, Vice Chair (SNS)

Rick Dale (SSHA)

Ex-Officio: Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE) & Cristián Ricci,

Senate Vice Chair (SSHA)

## FACULTY WELFARE, DIVERSITY AND ACADEMIC FREEDOM

Rudy Ortiz, Chair (SNS), UCAAD

Tanya Golash-Boza, Vice Chair (SSHA)

Shawn Newsam (SOE)

Linda Cameron, (SSHA), Spring UCAF

Nestor Oviedo, (SNS)

Wei-Chun Chin (SOE), Fall UCAF

Sean Malloy (SSHA) UCFW Representative Only

Ex-Officio: Gregg Camfield, (SSHA), Interim VP for Faculty Jian-Oiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE) & Cristián Ricci, Senate Vice

Chair (SSHA)

#### PRIVILEGE AND TENURE

Onuttom Narayan, Chair (UC Santa Cruz), UCPT

Paul Maglio, Vice Chair, (SOE)

Jodie S. Holt (UC Riverside)

Thomas Joo (UC Davis), Fall Only

Ex-Officio: Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair (SOE) & Cristián Ricci,

Senate Vice Chair (SSHA)

#### UNDERGRADUATE COUNCIL

Jack L. Vevea, Chair (SSHA), UCEP

Christopher Viney, Vice Chair (SOE), BOARS

YangQuan Chen (SOE), UCIE

Sholeh A. Quinn, (SSHA), UCOPE

Kelvin Lwin (SOE)

Anne Zanzucchi (SSHA), GESC Chair

Harish S. Bhat, (SNS)

Carrie Menke (SNS)

Katherine Steele Brokaw (SSHA)

Linda-Anne Rebhun, (SSHA)

Mario Sifuentez, (SSHA)

Marcos Garcia-Ojeda (SNS) Nigel Hatton (SSHA)

Paul Gibbons (SSHA)

Ex Officio: Charles Nies, Interim VC Student Affairs

Elizabeth Whitt, VP and Dean of Undergraduate Education, Cristián

Ricci, Senate Vice Chair, (SSHA), & Desiree McClain (ASUCM)

Lecturers (Non-voting) Kamal Dulai (SNS) & Iris Ruiz (Merritt

Writing Program)

#### **GRADUATE COUNCIL**

Kathleen Hull, Chair (SSHA), CCGA

Michael N. Dawson, Vice Chair (SNS)

Ramesh Balasubramaniam (SSHA)

Sayantani Ghosh (SNS)

Sachin Goyal (SOE)

Changqing Li, (SOE)

Victor Munoz, (SOE) Kurt Schnier, (SSHA)

Miriam Barlow (SNS) Spring Only

Ex Officio: Marjorie Zatz, VP and Graduate Dean, Jian-Qiao Sun,

Senate Chair (SOE) & Cristián Ricci, Senate Vice Chair (SSHA)&

Brandon Stark (GSA)

Consultant: Laura Martin, CIA & Tsu Ya, Graduate Admissions and

Academic Service Manager

## REGULAR MEETING OF THE UC MERCED DIVISION NOVEMBER 14, 2014 MINUTES OF THE MEETING

#### I. CALL TO ORDER

Pursuant to call, the UC Merced Division Academic Senate met on Friday, November 14, 2014 in Room 232 of the Kolligan Library. Senate Chair Jian-Qiao Sun presiding.

#### II. Announcements

## A. Senate Chair Jian-Oiao Sun

Senate Chair Sun called the meeting to order and welcomed participants and guest. The first order of business was announcing of Senate items currently under review:

- APM 133 17 g-j Limitation on Total Period of Service with Certain Academic Titles; 210- Instructions to Review Committees Which Advise on Actions Concerning Appointees in the Professor and Corresponding Series; 220 18B-Normal Periods of Service & 760 Stopping the Clock for Child Care
- APM 080 Medical Separation and 330 Specialist Series
- Doctoral Student Support
- Proposed Amendment to Senate Regulation 682 specifying the interval between the filing of advancement to candidacy for a Master's degree and the conferral of the degree
- Open Access Policy extension to all non-Senate members of the University community who author scholarly articles

The next announcement referred to items opined on by the Division:

- The Joint Senate-Administration IT Advisory Council Suspension of Appraisal Form which accompanies the Course Evaluation Form
- Faculty Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom Committee split
- General Education Chair Compensation
- Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation Space Principles
- Parking Committee memo from FWDAF to VPF Camfield requesting

Lastly Chair Sun announced issues of importance identified by the Division Council:

- Strategic Planning
- Program Review
- Admissions/Enrollment Management
- General Education
- Faculty Salary Equity and Diversity
- Reprioritization and Management of Space
- Graduate Student and Postdoctoral Student Needs

Chair Sun then welcomed and introduced Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor Thomas W. Peterson and thanked him for attending the meeting.

#### B. Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor Thomas W. Peterson

Provost/EVC Peterson thanked Senate Chair Sun, and advised attendees of his planned report on the Strategic Academic Focusing Initiative (SAFI) and Workforce Planning Survey. Provost/EVC Peterson explained how he held an open forum to discuss the status of SAFI providing a summary of the submitted proposals and analysis' with respect to the campuses current situation (teaching loads, research activities, etc.). The SAFI working group continues to assess the initiative and it plans to provide a one-page descriptor for each of the proposed campus themes. To support the effort, the Vice Provost for Faculty (VPF), Gregg Camfield agreed to help facilitate faculty conversations and provided a memo discussing the goals associated with that dialogue. The campus has been involved in the initiative for fourteen months and there continue to be issues outside of the academic realm in need of academic input. The goal is to provide a draft strategic plan in early 2015 with a focus on academics, facilities, and workforce planning. Members were then invited to ask questions and provide comments.

VPF Camfield added his memo was intended to be a vehicle to stimulate conversations, clarify what has been done to date, present potential elements we are considering, and explain how this culminating moment is a way to clarify for external and internal constituents what we have accomplished.

A faculty member stated the faculty has participated in this initiative for fourteen months and he believes there is enough information already provided to make a decision. He also stated that many have currently participated in two rounds of proposals and if other groups did not participate we should not continue to push to define a theme for those specific groups. The current proposals are good and he believes the campus should move forward with them.

Provost/EVC responded that is a possible position to take but this would be more exclusive than inclusive. The SAFI working group agreed to offer facilitated conversations and he believes we need to provide these forums for the good of the campus. He did not feel it necessary to continue to re-work the themes, but perhaps faculty can help determine if we should continue to engage or move forward with the proposals and themes we already have.

A faculty member supported providing a paragraph or two that explains the themes because there are a large number of faculty who currently do not identify with any of them. She then asked, in terms of facilitated discussions, will decisions be made based on those discussions or the work that has been done to support the proposals? She questioned the possibility the discussions would lead the campus in a different direction.

Provost/EVC Peterson replied the defined areas are based on the submitted proposals so he does not believe the discussions will lead the campus in a different direction.

A SAFI member added that the first round of proposals were narrowly focused. She continued by saying the working group is now working to establish a structure and coordination so we do not have competing faculty hires. The themes and facilitated discussions will help groups determine where they can collaborate.

Chair Sun then addressed Provost/EVC Peterson stating that the Division Council expressed strong sentiments that there is enough information for the working group to make recommendations. He then asked the Provost/EVC if he thought the information is sufficient for the working group to now make decisions?

The Provost/EVC responded he personally believed we could move forward with the information we have. He is, however, seeking input from the majority representation of faculty.

Provost/EVC Peterson then began to discuss the campus Workforce Planning Initiative, whose goal is to address administrative support across the campus. The majority of campuses regards workforce planning implies workforce reduction, so naturally there are some concerns that have been expressed with this effort. On our campus we are not engaging in this exercise to reduce staff, instead we are working to determine how to most efficiently expand staff.

Provost/EVC Peterson continued saying what is clear is that a proportional expansion based on current configurations and current ratios may not be sustainable. If we try to grow without efficiency we may have to hire fewer faculty in order to hire additional staff. At this stage we are reviewing functions. He's met with all of his departments and discussed support structure and administrative activities (travel, purchasing, payroll, etc.). The next step will include Human Resources working with Academic Personnel to discus the similarities and differences between faculty and administrative hiring and the distinctions that need to remain a part of academic functions. There are, however, activities that will have common elements across the campus.

A faculty member responded the academic units believe that the structure we currently have is not working. We continue to discuss a departmental model that other UC campuses moved away from during the economic downturn. Have we looked at what is happening on other campus?

Provost/EVC Peterson responded in the affirmative, there are academic examples we have examined and one of those models is UC Berkeley. He explained we also have increased flexibility compared to other campuses and they provide valuable academic examples we can reference.

A faculty member expressed structurally for the School of Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts the major concern is that there is no assigned staff at the disposal of the faculty. Staff are responsible to administrators up to the Deans office but there is also an enormous amount of work that is academic faculty directed and there needs to be staff members that are accountable to faculty. Provost/EVC Peterson answered there are several elements that require personnel evaluations and service orientation and whatever we do needs a service component.

A faculty member informed attendees aligning structures was one of the reasons the Undergraduate Council and the Graduate Council proposed a new program review system where the same committee reviewing the administrative structure is reviewing the academic goals. She relayed that she personally noticed the administrative structure was not always aligned with the academic goals and believes this new structure will address that concern.

Another faculty member asked Provost/EVC Peterson if he anticipated feedback from the faculty on workforce planning?

Provost/EVC Peterson responded it is a topic that is being discussed, however, he is not aware to what extent the faculty have been engaged. He encourages faculty to speak with their Dean.

#### III. Consent Calendar:

- **A.** The May 1, 2014 minutes approved as presented.
- **B.** The following 2013-2014 Annual Committee Reports were approved as presented:
  - Division Council
  - Committee on Academic Personnel
  - Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
  - Faculty, Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom
  - Committee on Rules and Elections
  - Committee on Research
  - Graduate Council

#### IV. Proposed Division Regulation Changes

The Committee on Rules and Elections Chair Vanderschraaf provided an overview and rational for the proposed Division Regulation changes. He stated that at the May 1, 2014 Meeting of the Division, the Committee on Rules and Elections (CRE) presented proposed changes to the Merced Division Regulations. The proposed changes are meant to codify Graduate Council approved policies for graduate education per the recommendation of the Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC). The main proposed substantive changes to existing Regulations include:

- Added distinction between undergraduate/graduate and specified credit toward degree requirements.
- Specification of resolution of incomplete for graduate students.
- Suggested language that P/NP are not counted towards degree requirements.
- Added Section 2. Graduation

After consultation with the standing committees and Office of the Registrar, CRE has finalized the revisions for final consideration.

A faculty member asked what is the rational for distinguishing between pass or no pass and satisfactory or unsatisfactory?

CRE Chair Vanderschraaf replied a distinction could be that undergraduates are allowed to take classes for a grade of pass or no pass while graduate students are not allowed to request this distinction that must be determined by the instructor.

VPF Camfield added and CRE Chair Vanderschraaf agreed that he understood the difference to be at the undergraduate level you can pass a class with a C or better but at the graduate level you must pass a class with a B or better.

A faculty member then asked are there any discussions occurring in preparation for undergraduate majors restricting pass or no pass options?

CRE Chair Vanderschraaf replied that is up to the discretion of the degree program itself.

Faculty members added that it counts toward the major and is articulated in the syllabus when the course is approved.

CRE Chair Vanderschraaf then announced that a ballot will be issued for approval of the Regulation changes before the end of the semester.

## V. General Education (GE)

General Education Subcommittee (GESC) Chair Anne Zanzucchi and Vice Provost and Dean for Undergraduate Education (VPDUE) Elizabeth Whitt provided some historical background on the General Education program GE at UC Merced consists of courses that meet university, campus, and school requirements. Writing 10 for example is a UC requirement and Core 1 is a first year course. Of the 500 GE courses offered, 70% of the GE requirements are fulfilled through twenty—three courses.

VPDUE Whitt report: in AY 2005-2006, the campus established Eight Guiding Principles of General Education that state" UC Merced is planning educational experiences designed to prepare well-educated people of the 21<sup>st</sup> century for the workplace, for advanced education and for a leadership role within their communities. UC Merced graduates will be exceptionally well prepared to navigate and succeed in a complex world. The principles guiding the design and implementation of our academic program are envisioned within a continuum that ranges from preparatory and advanced curricula in general education and in the majors, through a variety of educational activities inside and outside the classroom."

The eight guiding principles are:

- Scientific Literacy
- Decision Making
- Communication
- Self and Society

- Ethics and Responsibility
- Leadership and Teamwork
- Aesthetic Understanding and Creativity
- Development of Personal Potential

VPDUE Whitt invited GE Chair Zanzucchi to report on GE program review activities. General Education's program review relates to the institution broadly. The GE program review is similar to traditional academic program reviews of majors and the GE subcommittee is functioning similar to a unit. There are novelties to GE in the sense that it is fairly representative of many different disciplines and everyone is responsible in some way for GE. It has been a major undertaking to determine how to engage the campus in a discussion about GE. In early February an external review team is composed of scholars from another UC, a non-UC campus and from the American Association of Universities and Colleges.

A GE retreat was held in May for the purpose of "engaging faculty and staff in redefining and reimagining UC Merced's General Education program in light of the institution's mission." Attendees were asked "What is the meaning of a baccalaureate degree at UC Merced?" and were encouraged to "identify goals, aims, aspirations, expectations and hallmarks of our baccalaureate graduates in the context of our institutional mission."

GE Chair Zanzucchi invited attendees to ask questions and share comments related to General Education.

A faculty member asked if there has been an opportunity to evaluate Core 1 and whether or not the program will change or remain the same?

GE Chair Zanzucchi responded that GESC conducted a mini study with the Core 1 and WRI 10 leads and based on those responses we have institutional data (enrollment, grades, course evaluations, etc.) for review. Additionally, the subcommittee is working to determine the future of Core 1 including external and internal evaluations to determine what we want all students to experience regardless of their major.

A faculty member asked whether the early philosophy of GE that involved common elements specific to each of the schools was revisited and if it is a direction that we want to continue?

VPDUE Whitt replied that the self-study, the program review, and the Retreat are all on parallel tracks. Therefore, the campus does not have to wait until spring 2015, after the conclusion of the review team site visit, to consider the future of GE while reviewing the past. The GE Subcommittee wanted to capitalize on the current momentum from the program review and the Retreat. Everything at this time can be considered and that is why it is important to have as many stakeholders involved in GE participating in the conversations. Possible outcomes of this review include a revision of the Guiding Principles and name change for GE. Retreat participants also considered GE not as a course but as a set of experiences including undergraduate research.

A faculty member added that he participated in the May GE retreat and witnessed a strong interest on how to make General Education a genuine experience and research was suggested as a way to accomplish this.

UGC Chair Vevea noted that the GE program review could be used as a catalyst to act on the conversations that have been taking place for years.

An attendee commented as we work with our campus populations to clarify general education we also need to bring awareness of program components.

Chair Sun relayed that he is an Engineering Professor and students are taught technical skills like most scientist, but he believes GE is important because it shapes the soul of the student. A solid GE program leads to a successful student capable of dealing with a variety of people. He then asked if there were plans to expand the course offerings?

VPDUE Whitt answered the campus currently offers 500 courses but the students are not choosing to participate in a majority of them.

GE Chair Zanzucchi added we have a lot of potential with GE courses and we are now exploring how they have been defined and if they are connected. We have 23 heavily enrolled courses and we need to provide breadth of experience. How do we logically accomplish that goal?

VPDUE Whitt continued that the campus also needs to determine why students are enrolling in the 23 classes; whether the enrollments are based on what students need or what fits their schedule.

#### VI. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS

## A. Committee on Academic Personnel (CAP) Member Tsoulouhas

Last year CAP membership included two internal and five external members and this year an additional internal member was added to the committee. CAP has deliberated on routine merit cases, mid-career appraisals, and promotion cases. The committee held its bi-annual meeting with faculty on October 23, 2014 and attendees included APO staff, CAP members, the Provost/EVC, AP Chairs, Senate staff, and faculty. CAP answered several questions including evaluation of non-traditional types of research and securing non-traditional funds. CAP is the lead reviewer of proposed APM revisions including one proposed revision that would extend the reasons for stopping the tenure clock. CAP is currently working with the APO and the VPF on a list of frequently asked questions pertaining to the academic review process. Finally, this semester the systemwide University Committee on Academic Personnel (UCAP) has met once on November 7, 2014.

Member Tsoulouhas thanked Simrin Takhar for her work in supporting the committee.

## B. Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation (CAPRA) Chair Kelley

CAPRA has been mainly concerned with its role with the FTE allocation process this academic year. The committee has met twice once over the summer and once this semester with Provost/EVC Peterson for updates and deliverables and they met with two SAFI members for input. The committee remains unclear how the SAFI process will move forward and they have discussed ways to provide support. CAPRA also discussed space allocation and while they do not believe it is their role to manage space they do believe they can be helpful by providing general principles. In terms of systemwide, the University Committee on Planning and Budget (UCPB) has met twice this semester and they are discussing the new budget plan presented by President Napolitano.

The Provost/EVC responded he welcomed parameters around space allocation from faculty with the understanding that there will be different criteria for different disciplines. He suggest providing space considerations broken down by post doc, graduate student, school, wet lab intensive, dry lab intensive, or no lab intensive space requirements.

Chair Kelley wished to thank Simrin Takhar for her work in supporting the committee.

## C. Committee on Committees (CoC) Chair LiWang

CoC has appointed 14 members to committees, subcommittees and working groups. They continue to work to fill several remaining committees most important of which is the need for an external Humanist member on CAP, an additional SOE member for GC, the systemwide University Committee on Faculty Welfare, the Medical Education Task Force, Information, Privacy and Security committee and faculty facilitators for SAFI discussions.

VPF Camfield asked if CoC has reached out to the Emeritus Society for potential members?

CoC Chair LiWang advised we currently have a list of potential members we are working through in order to seek participation and will consider contacting the Emeritus Society.

Chair LiWang wished to thank Dejeuné Shelton for her work in supporting the committee.

## D. Committee on Research (COR) Chair Noelle

COR has opined on a variety of campus and systemwide proposals, for example the committee is in the process of submitting a statement of support for a systemwide initiative to limit non-resident tuition for first year doctoral students. Last year, COR produced a document defining the establishment and periodic review process for Organized Research Units, Centralized Research Units, Core Facilities and Multi-Campus Research Units and the committee is now monitoring the first implementation of these processes focusing on the upcoming review of the Sierra Nevada Research Institute. For the sake of procedural transparency, Vice Chancellor for Research and Economic Development (VC ORED) Sam Traina is working on a document detailing how competitions between proposals for limited submission extramural funding opportunities are resolved. At the request of the VC ORED, this information will be made broadly available to the faculty in the form of a constructive critique of the process by COR. COR has met with representatives from the Research Development Services, the Sponsored Projects Office and Research Accounting Services in order to gather information about on-going efforts to integrate the activities associated with

grant proposal generation, proposal submissions and grant management. Specifically, the committee has been introduced to a new suite of online tools designed to facilitate the intramural funding efforts of both faculty and staff. All of these tools are scheduled to be incrementally deployed starting this spring and COR intends to provide input on their design from a faculty perspective.

Despite recognition of tight resource constraints, COR is continuing to advocate for the establishment of a UCM Academic Senate committee on Library and Scholarly Communications as recommended by last year's ad-hoc Senate-Administration Library Working Group. Currently it is the charge of COR to monitor Library issues but it is clear that supporting research is only part of the library's mission. Library issues involving campus resources should also include guidance provided by the faculty.

COR is monitoring ongoing efforts by the administration to establish internal financial support for faculty research actives. These policies are meant to address the issues surrounding start up funds, availability of emergency or bridge funds, indirect cost return issues and other funds. The committee has met with the Vice Chancellor for Business and Administrative Services, the Vice Chancellor for Planning and Budget, the Assistant Vice Chancellor for Finance and the Campus Controller and are monitoring the development of these policies and preparing to provide feedback as they form.

Finally, COR is preparing a proposal to expand the Academic Senate Faculty Research Grants Program. The funding for internal research grants has remained constant since the inception of this program despite the growth in faculty numbers. COR is also working on modifications to the research grants program attempting to optimize the impact of the limited funds. At least some of the modifications will appear in the Call for Proposals issued in the spring.

Chair Noelle thanked Simrin Takhar for her work in supporting the committee.

## E. Committee on Rules and Elections (CRE) Chair Vanderschraaf

CRE opined on several issues including CCGA proposal, membership expansion for the General Education Subcommittee of UGC, and the proposed split of FWDAF. The committee has provided recommendations on mostly procedural questions related to faculty voting. A call for the annual review of school bylaws was issued and will be due by November 17, 2014. The committee is working on a guiding document on Bylaw 55 and will issue a Senate COI policy. This policy will allow the Division to maintain our current model of allowing committees to issue their own COI policies and address the number of request for guideline recommendations. Finally, next term there will be revisions to the Division Bylaws at the Spring Division Meeting and they will work with FWDAF in helping to establish two committees.

Chair Vanderschraaf thanked Mayra Chavez-Franco for her work in supporting the committee.

## F. Faculty Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom (FWDAF) Vice Chair Tanya Golash-Boza

The Faculty Welfare, Diversity and Academic Freedom Committee set several goals including encouraging diversity in the faculty recruiting process with the hope of proposing revisions to the APM that emphasis the contributions of diversity. Chair Ortiz is working with VPF Camfield to gain an understanding of the extent of which we have an acceptable retention rate and how we compare to other institutions. Members recently completed the Faculty Salary Equity Study working with staff members from Institutional Research and Decision Support (IRDS) and the report will be submitted in January per UCOP's directive. The committee also opined on CAPRA's Space Principles, and the FWDAF committee split. The committee is working on a parking pass renewal policy based on a request from the Senate Chair and working with the Campus Ombuds to understand various issues that affect faculty on campus. In terms of systemwide the committee opined on APM revisions and at the last systemwide University Committee on Faculty Welfare (UCFW) meeting members discussed the Total Remuneration Study.

Vice Chair Golash-Boza thanked Simrin Takhar for her work in supporting the committee.

## G. Graduate Council (GC) Chair Hull

The Graduate Council is handling eight CCGA proposals and based on the increased workload made a request to CoC and received two additional members. Chair Hull stressed the need for internal CCGA proposal reviewers and encouraged members to accept an invitation to review if called upon. The Council created a template for Graduate Group Policies and Procedures, mentoring guidelines, and plans to approve minor changes to the Graduate Council Policy on new graduate programs due to revisions to the CCGA policy. The Council is working with the Graduate Division on revisions to the Graduate Policies and Procedures Handbook partly in response to minimize request for exceptions, revisions to the policies and procedures for Graduate Concentrations and Designated Emphasis, and a policy on Non-Ladder Rank Faculty Teaching Graduate Courses. They are currently addressing the minimum standard for the English Language Requirements for Graduate Students and are considering developing recommendations for the use of conjoined courses.

The Council reviewed a dozen CRF request for spring approval and are awaiting the new CRF system to come on line. The awards subcommittee reviewed and approved language for various fellowships, approved a new system of rolling deadlines and started reviewing fellowship applications.

Chair Hull welcomed Vice Provost and Graduate Dean Marjorie Zatz and thanked Mayra Chavez-Franco for her work in supporting the committee.

## H. Undergraduate Council (UGC) Chair Vevea

UGC set several goals for the year including the General Education Program Review, clarifying guidelines for submissions of courses that will satisfy GE, and expanding dialogue between UGC and the Admissions Office on campus and systemwide admissions policies. In the past, admissions had been handled by a small admissions subcommittee of UGC that met periodically with the Admissions Director. The Council expanded the size of the

subcommittee and plans to invite Admissions representatives to participate in UGC meetings to provide additional details.

Members are working on revisions to Undergraduate Policies and one relates to the language on the Entry Level Writing Requirement (ELWR) that was placed in the catalog without UGC review. Members are considering the implications of the language and will provide their findings in time for the catalog deadline. A UGC subcommittee is working on developing a clearer process for grade appeals and the policy subcommittee is addressing ways to clarify the process for the submittal of CRFs. There are also plans to develop more definitive guidelines and a checklist that clarify the roles of responsible parties and expectations.

The Council has opined on several items and received opinions from other committees on the Community Research and Service Minor. Similarly, UGC is also reviewing the School of Natural Sciences Honors Proposal. The Spanish Minor review is underway and the Computer Science and Engineering Major program review was closed. The latter will now enter the program response phase.

The committees that correspond to UGC at the systemwide level include BOARS (Board of Admissions and Relations w/Schools) Committee and UCEP (University Committee on Educational Policy). One of BOARS's main discussion item is a change of the 9/9 eligibility rule to 7/7. The change could result in unfortunate consequences in the diversity of the eligibility pool. UCEP discussed a hybrid program where students completed three years at UCSC and an additional two years at Hastings. Members realized that UCEP does not have a formal mechanism for opining on these types of courses and to address the need, the committee is drafting a memo seeking clarification. Additionally, UCEP was asked to approve a systemwide course for field work in the UC Natural Research System and approved it on an interim basis with a request for the course to go through the proper procedures for receiving certification. UCEP acted on a proposal to separate the UCLA Herb Alpert School of Arts and planned to address the meaning of a UC degree until it was asked by the President to postpone a formal statement. Additionally, UCEP has spent a great deal of time discussing financing undergraduate students by admitting international students that pay a much higher tuition.

Finally, the Academic Integrity Task Force, which includes UGC representatives, will convene soon to discuss and work on revisions to the academic integrity policy.

Chair Vevea thanked Fatima Paul for her work in supporting the committee.

#### V. Petitions of Students-None

#### VI. Unfinished Business-None

#### VII. New Business-None

Chair Sun closed the meeting by addressing the increased workload of the Senate office and the need for additional resources. He thanked the hard work of the staff and for their patience.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Attest: Jian-Qiao Sun, Senate Chair



#### PART I. MERCED DIVISION

#### Title I. AUTHORITY AND FUNCTIONS

- 1. The Merced Division is a committee of the University of California Academic Senate. It has authority to:
  - A. Select its own officers and committees and adopt rules for the conduct of its business;
  - B. Receive and consider reports and recommendations from the Faculties of colleges and schools located wholly or partly on the Merced Campus, from its Divisional committees, from local administrative officers, and from other Divisions;
  - C. Originate and take final action on legislation substantially affecting only the Division;
  - D. Establish Faculties in schools and colleges located wholly on the Merced Campus;
  - E. Report directly to the President resolutions on matters of University concern, and copy the Assembly of the Academic Senate;
  - F. Initiate Memorials to the Regents; and
  - G. Submit reports and recommendations concerning changes in Senate legislation and other related matters to the Senate or to the Assembly.
- 2. The Merced Division authorizes and supervises all courses of instruction in the colleges and schools on the Merced campus, except when otherwise specified in the Bylaws of the University Academic Senate or in the Standing Orders of The Regents. The Division recommends to the President of the University all candidates for degrees who complete requirements for those degrees in a school, college, or graduate division subject to the jurisdiction of the Division.
- 3. All Merced Division business will be transacted by the Divisional Assembly of the Division except when specified otherwise in these bylaws.

## Title II. MEMBERSHIP

- 1. Members of the Division are:
  - A. The President of the University;
  - B. The Chancellor, Vice Chancellors, Provosts, Deans, Directors of academic programs, the chief admissions officer, Registrar, and University Librarian at Merced;
  - C. All members of the Academic Senate of the University of California whose duties lie primarily on the Merced campus;
  - D. Academic Senate members holding statewide appointments only, and not enrolled in another Division, who choose to enroll in this Division by informing the Secretary of the Division.
- 2. Membership does not lapse because of leave of absence or transfer to emeritus status.

3. The Committee on Rules and Elections determines whether a person meets the requirements for membership.

#### Title III. OFFICERS OF THE DIVISION

#### 1. Chair

A. Term: The Chair of the Division is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a one-year term beginning the first day of the Fall semester. The Chair ordinarily succeeds to this office and to Chair of the Divisional Council after serving as Vice Chair of the Division and of the Council in the previous year.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Serves as Chair of the Division and of the Divisional Council.
- 2. Serves as an *ex officio* voting member of the Assembly of the Academic Senate and of the Academic Council, and as Chair of the Divisional Committee on Assembly Representation.
- 3. Sits, by invitation or at one's own discretion, without vote, in deliberations of any committee of the Division except the Committee on Academic Personnel when personnel cases are discussed and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure when individual grievance or discipline cases are discussed.
- 4. Refers matters to the officers or agencies of the Division and of the Administration, as appropriate.

#### 2. Vice Chair

A. Term: The Vice Chair of the Division and of the Divisional Council is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a one-year term that starts on the first day of the Fall semester.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Serves as Vice Chair of both the Division and the Divisional Council.
- 2. Serves as Chair when the Chair is unable to serve.
- 3. Presides at meetings of the Divisional Assembly when the Chair is unable to attend.
- 4. Serves as Acting Chair until a replacement chair is appointed by the Committee on Committees in the event of death, resignation, or prolonged incapacity of a Chair.
- 5. Performs duties as assigned by the Chair of the Division.
- 6. Sits, by invitation or at one's own discretion, without voting rights, in deliberations of any Division committee except for Committee on Committees and Committee on Academic Personnel when personnel cases are discussed, and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure when individual grievance or discipline cases are discussed.

#### 3. Secretary/Parliamentarian

A. Term: The Secretary is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a twoyear term, subject to reappointment, beginning on the first day of the Fall semester.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Prepares the Call and Minutes for each meeting of the Division in accordance with Senate Bylaws.
- 2. Assumes the duties of Chair in the absence of both the Chair and Vice Chair.
- 3. Performs such duties as assigned by the Chair of the Division.
- 4. Maintains a complete file of the Senate of minutes, reports, and agendas of all Divisional committees and other Senate agencies.
- 5. Serves as Parliamentarian for all meetings of the Division.
- 6. Issues notices for all meetings of the Representative Assembly to all members of the Division, keeps and distributes the minutes of all such meetings to all members of the Division, and keeps a permanent file of all calls and notices of meetings of the Assembly of the Academic Senate along with any appended material.
- 7. Sends a copy of the Bylaws of the Merced Division that relate to the work of the committee in question to each committee chair at the beginning of the academic year.
- 8. Conducts all elections in the Merced Division that require a ballot under the supervision of the Committee on Rules and Elections.
- 9. Maintains Merced Division archives, including all policies adopted by any Divisional committee.

#### 4. Executive Office

A. The Executive Office of the Division is under the general supervision of the Chair. It includes such analytical, administrative, and clerical employees as are made available to the Division and its committees.

- 1. Be the depository of all records of the Division.
- 2. Assist in the preparation and distribution of calls and minutes for meetings of the Division, reports of committees, questionnaires, and other materials required in the work of the Division and its committees.
- 3. Maintain current files of all minutes, agendas, calls, and reports of standing and special committees submitted to the Division.
- 4. Establish and maintain files showing the current membership in the Division, the Senate and Divisional committee service of each Division member, and the current membership of all standing and special committees of the Division.
- 5. Generally assist the officers of the Division in the discharge of their duties as officers.
- 6. All records of the Executive Office except those concerning matters not to be reported directly to the Division and for good cause held confidential, are open for inspection by any member of the Division.

## 5. Divisional Representatives

- A. The Merced Division will be represented in the Assembly of the Academic Senate by the Chair of the Division *ex officio* and by the number of Divisional Representatives authorized by the University Academic Senate.
- B. Before February 1 each year, the Secretary will initiate the election of the Divisional Representatives. Election of Divisional Representatives will be by ballot in accordance with Bylaw Part II. Title III. 3. C. If the total number of nominations received is not equal to at least twice the number of positions to be filled, the Committee on Committees will make nominations, if any, up to at least the number of positions to be filled.
- C. As many Divisional Representatives as there are terms to be filled will be elected each year, and elected Representatives will serve for terms of two years. The Committee on Committees of the Merced Division will appoint Divisional Representatives as necessary to complete any unfulfilled term or terms. No member of the Senate will serve as a Divisional Representative for more than two consecutive terms, but he or she will become eligible to serve again after the lapse of two or more years following conclusion of his or her second consecutive term.
- D. First, second and third alternate Divisional Representatives to serve in the absence or disability of any regular Representative of the Assembly will be selected by the Committee on Committees immediately following the election of the regular Divisional Representatives. Each alternate Divisional Representative will serve a two-year term.

#### 6. Removal from Office

A. Any officer, Divisional Representative to the Assembly of the Academic Senate, committee or council chair, or member of a committee of the Merced Division may be dismissed for good cause by a two-thirds vote of the Divisional Assembly on the recommendation of the Committee on Committees. Good cause includes the failure to perform the duties of the office or other actions that undermine the effectiveness of a committee or the Division. No one will be dismissed without the opportunity to lay evidence before the Committee on Committees and to answer any charges before the Divisional Assembly.

#### Title IV. DIVISIONAL COUNCIL

1. Composition

The Divisional Council will be composed of up to 15 members, including:

- A. The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Division, who are also Chair and Vice Chair of the Divisional Council, and Chairs of the following Committees:
  - 1. Academic Personnel
  - 2. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
  - 3. Committees

- 4. Faculty Welfare and Academic Freedom
- 5. Diversity and Equity
- 6. Graduate Council
- 7. Research
- 8. Undergraduate Council
- B. At-Large members elected by the Division. There will be one at-large member per hundred Senate members or fraction thereof, up to a maximum of nine at-large members.
- C. The Secretary of the Division serves as non-voting secretary to the Council.

#### 2. Terms

- A. The Chair and Vice Chair will serve the same terms as their tenure as Chair and Vice Chair of the Division.
- B. Committee Chairs normally will serve during the term of their tenure as committee chair. A committee chair may designate the Vice Chair of that committee to serve in his or her stead on the Divisional Council with approval of the Committee on Committees for one year.
- C. At-Large members will serve two-year terms. Half of these members will be elected each year.
- D. At-Large members will be elected in the same manner and at the same time as members of the Committee on Committees. When candidates are to be elected for both one- and two-year terms, those with larger numbers of votes shall receive two-year terms.
- E. Terms begin on the first day of the Fall semester, unless otherwise designated in Divisional legislation.
- F. A partial term counts as a full term.
- G. Any vacancy between regular elections is filled by the Committee on Committees.

#### 3. Duties

The Divisional Council has the following responsibilities and authority:

- A. Proposes legislation to the Division as it deems necessary.
- B. Acts on behalf of the Division on matters other than legislative matters retained by the Division.
- C. Advises the Division and its officers and representatives on matters of policy.
- D. With the advice of the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the Graduate Council, and the Undergraduate Council, makes recommendations to the Chancellor on the establishment and disestablishment of academic units on the Merced campus, including colleges, schools, and departments.
- E. With the advice of the Committee on Research, makes recommendations to the Chancellor on the establishment or disestablishment of Organized Research Units, centers, institutes, bureaus, and the like.
- F. Receives and distributes to the appropriate agencies reports from Standing and Special Committees of the Division and from academic program and Organized

- Research Unit review committees. Forwards the formal advice of Standing Committees to the Chancellor.
- G. Coordinates activities of Divisional Standing and Special Committees.
- H. Facilitates and expedites consultations between Administration and appropriate committees of the Division; establishes special committees to study and report to the Divisional Assembly on concerns that are not within the jurisdiction of existing committees; is available for consultation with the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee concerning the establishment of Administrative task forces; communicates with appropriate Divisional committees relative to the establishment of task forces by the campus Administration.
- I. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee on the performance of principal administrative officers, such as vice chancellors, deans, and associate deans.
- J. Places routine items on a Consent Calendar to be submitted to a meeting of the Division.
- K. Informs members of the Division of its agenda and actions through regularly circulated reports, public forums, Divisional newsletter, or other channels.
- L. Orders a ballot by mail, if a quorum was not achieved at a Divisional meeting on any matter, including legislation that was presented in the Notice for that meeting.
- M. With the advice of the Committee on Faculty Welfare, Diversity, and Academic Freedom, reports to the Division on matters of University and Faculty welfare, including administrative practices.
- N. Studies and reports conditions that may affect the academic freedom of the University or of individual faculty members.
- O. Sets the size of committees not otherwise specified in these bylaws.
- P. Approves or denies student petitions that diverge from Divisional regulations. This authority may be delegated to the appropriate committees of any college, school or the Graduate Council. If the authority is delegated, each committee must submit a report to the Divisional Council at the end of the academic year summarizing the disposition of the petitions brought to it.
- Q. Acts on behalf of the Merced Division in recommending to the President of the University candidates for degrees and honors in a school, college or graduate division subject to the jurisdiction of the Merced Division. At its discretion, the Divisional Council may recommend candidates under suspension of Divisional and Senate Regulations, provided that each petition submitted by a candidate has been approved by the appropriate faculty or the Graduate Council. Such petitions may include those for the awarding of posthumous degrees. The committee, after forwarding its recommendations to the President, maintains in the Academic Senate Office a record of its actions, including separate lists of the names of candidates recommended under suspension of the Regulations.

#### Title V. DIVISIONAL ASSEMBLY

1. Membership

A. The Divisional Assembly will include all members of the Division as defined in Bylaw Part I. Title II.

## 2. Responsibilities and Functions

- A. The Divisional Assembly is empowered to act on behalf of the Merced Division in the transaction of all business not specifically delegated to other committees of the Division, except as limited below. The Divisional Assembly retains the authority, by a majority vote, to review any policy statement of a Divisional committee and to call up for discussion and determination any policy question pending before a Divisional committee.
- B. Except by the consent of two-thirds of the members present, no action of the Divisional Assembly will become effective until forty-one (41) days after the date of the meeting at which the action was taken.

## 3. Meetings

- A. Regular: The Division holds two regular meetings each academic year, one in the Fall term and the other in the Spring term when the Divisional Council presents its State of the Campus Message.
  - 1. The Chair and Secretary schedule regular meetings.
  - 2. The call to a Regular Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the meeting.

## B. Special

- 1. A Special Meeting of the Division may be called by the Chair. Upon written request of seven voting members, a Special Meeting must be called by the Chair or, in the event of absence or disability, by the Vice Chair.
- 2. The call to a Special Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least five (5) calendar days prior to the meeting.

#### C. Emergency

- 1. An Emergency Meeting may be called by the Chair or, in the event of absence or disability, by the Vice Chair, with the concurrence of a majority of the Divisional Council.
- 2. The call to an Emergency Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.
- 3. The order of business shall be that for a Special Meeting. Legislation cannot be enacted nor modified at an Emergency Meeting.

#### 4. Quorum

A. The lesser of forty percent or fifty voting members of the Division are required for a quorum.

#### PART II. COMMITTEES

#### Title I. APPOINTMENT AND TERM

## 1. Appointment

A. The Committee on Committees appoints the Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary/Parliamentarian of the Division. The appointments shall be reported for

- confirmation by the Division at the regular spring meeting of the Division. Unless objection is made and an election called for by a majority vote of those present, the appointments shall stand.
- B. Unless these Bylaws specify otherwise, the Committee on Committees appoints all committees and councils of the Division and designates their Chairs and Vice Chairs, members of special committees as the Division may direct, nominees for appointment to administrative committees when called upon by the Chancellor, and members of the Merced Division to serve on the standing committees of the University Academic Senate. All appointments by the Committee on Committees will be reported to the Divisional Council and to the Division.
- C. No member of the Division holding an administrative title of Chancellor, Vice Chancellor, Provost, Vice Provost, Dean, Associate Dean, or titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility, may serve as a member of a Divisional committee or council (with the exception of membership in the Divisional Assembly), or as a Senate representative of the Merced Division to any taskforce, committee, or agency (except in a non-voting, *ex officio* capacity as provided in these Bylaws). Chairs of academic departments or programs, or persons with titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility, may serve on Divisional committees or councils, or as a representative of the Merced Division, with the exception of membership on the Committee on Academic Personnel and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure. (En )

#### 2. Term

- A. Committees are appointed annually to serve for a term of one year, beginning with the first day of the Fall semester, unless otherwise specified. To assist committees with continuity of expertise, reappointment of individuals for a second year will be given strong consideration by the Committee on Committees.
- B. The Vice Chair of each committee will normally succeed to the position of Chair in the following year. The Committee on Committees will normally appoint a new Vice Chair for each committee each year.

## Title II. GENERAL FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES; COMPOSITION

1. Classification of Committees (Am 12 Dec 08)

Standing Committees of the Merced Division of the Academic Senate form two categories:

- A. Committees on Faculty and Senate Affairs, without student members;
- B. Committees on Educational Affairs, with student members.
- 2. General Functions and Responsibilities (Am 12 Dec 08)
  - A. Committees may conduct studies and make recommendations as they deem appropriate, consistent with their charge.
  - B. Members of the Division have the right to be heard by appropriate Divisional Committees.

- C. Each Committee is responsible to the Division and is obligated to report its actions to the Division, but it also has the right to report concurrently to the Assembly of the Academic Senate.
- D. Committees may make recommendations and render service to the President, the Chancellor, other administrative officers, and individual members of the Division, reporting their recommendations to the Division when such reporting is consistent with the original charge to the committee and are in the best interest of the University.
- E. Committees may adopt rules for the conduct of their business consistent with the Bylaws and Regulations of the Division.
- F. Standing Committees or Councils may appoint committees from within their membership and may delegate any part of their responsibility to such committees. The Chair, in consultation with the membership, may appoint any number of individuals or ad hoc committees in response to Senate needs. In so doing, the Chair may consult with the Committee on Committees. However, any Senate member may appeal a decision of such a committee to the Committee that created it.

## 3. Composition of Committees

- A. Committees on Faculty and Senate Affairs
  - 1. Membership: These Committees will be composed solely of Senate members
    - a. Assembly Representation
    - b. Academic Personnel
    - c. Committees
    - d. Privilege and Tenure
    - e. Faculty Welfare and Academic Freedom
    - f. Diversity and Equity
    - g. Divisional Council
    - h. Rules and Elections
    - i. Research

## B. Committees on Educational Affairs

- Membership: These Committees will be composed of Senate members appointed by the Committee on Committees, unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, and will include student members:
  - a. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
  - b. Undergraduate Council
  - c. Graduate Council
  - d. Library and Scholarly Communication
- 2. Student Selection, Appointment, and Participation (Am 21 Mar 07)
  - a. Student members will be eligible to serve on all standing subcommittees of those Committees listed in Bylaw Part II. Title IV.
  - b. Student representatives are nominated for one-year terms by their undergraduate and graduate student associations to sit with Academic Senate committees. Their seating is subject to ratification by

- the Committee on Committees, which, by right, may also withdraw the privilege from student representatives who violate the rules of conduct, or, in flagrant instances, debar any student representatives from the committee in question for a specific period of time. Failure of the student organizations to provide appointee(s) will not interfere with the ongoing function of the Merced Divisional committees.
- c. Student representatives have the privilege of the floor at committee meetings. They may ask for their positions to be recorded in the minutes (if any), but will not vote or enjoy the other rights reserved for voting members.
- d. Student representatives will not be present during discussions of confidential matters, nor have access to documents pertinent to such discussions. Normally, confidential matters are defined as those pertaining to any individual member of the academic community, but when warranted, a committee Chair may declare any other matter confidential.
- e. Student representatives may report to their constituencies on committee transactions, but, both as a courtesy and to confirm the accuracy in reporting are recommended showing a copy of any report to the Chair of the committee in question prior to its dissemination.
- f. Student representatives on committees have the right to participate in committee deliberations but do not have voting privileges. On all formal votes in such committees, the student opinions will be recorded and reported separately.
- 4. Correspondence with Standing Committees of the Academic Senate (see Senate Bylaw 325)
  - A. Academic Personnel, Committees, Library and Scholarly Communication and Privilege and Tenure correspond to the Assembly committees of the same names.
  - B. Faculty Welfare and Academic Freedom corresponds to Assembly committees on Faculty Welfare and Academic Freedom.
  - C. Diversity and Equity corresponds to the Assembly committee on Affirmative Action and Diversity.
  - D. Rules and Elections corresponds to the Assembly committee on Rules and Jurisdiction.
  - E. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation corresponds to the Assembly committee on Planning and Budget.
  - F. Undergraduate Council corresponds to the Assembly committees on Board on Admissions and Relations with Schools, Educational Policy, International Education, and Preparatory Education.
  - G. Graduate Council corresponds to the Assembly Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs.
  - H. Research corresponds to the Assembly committees on Research Policy.

I. Divisional Council corresponds to all other Standing Committees of the Assembly.

# Title III. STANDING COMMITTEES ON FACULTY AND SENATE AFFAIRS: THEIR POWERS AND DUTIES

These Committees are composed solely of Senate members.

- 1. Assembly Representation
  - A. Membership
    - 1. Chair of the Division, who serves as its Chair;
    - 2. Other members of the Division who are *ex officio* voting members of the Assembly of the Academic Senate; (Am 04 May 06)
    - 3. Appointed Divisional Representatives to the Assembly (as prescribed in Senate Bylaw 105.A.4) appointed for two-year terms, at least half of whom will be elected members of the Divisional Council; and
    - 4. Three alternate Divisional Representatives, designated by the Division Chair to serve in the absence of a regular Representative (Legislative Ruling 4.71).

#### 2. Academic Personnel

- A. Membership: This Committee has seven or more members who may be members of other Divisions of the Senate.
- B. Term: Subject to reappointment, members will ordinarily serve a three-year term beginning the first day of the Fall semester.
- C. Duties
  - 1. Represents the Division in all matters and policies relating to appointments, promotions, and academic personnel matters.
  - 2. Makes recommendations to the Chancellor on appointments, promotions, salaries, and other matters related to faculty quality.
  - 3. Makes an annual report to the Division stating the extent to which its recommendations have been accepted by the University administration. This report shall be sufficiently detailed to inform the Division of the effectiveness of the committee as a liaison between the Division and the administration.

## 3. Committees

- A. Membership, Election and term of office
  - 1. This Committee will consist of eight elected members of the Merced Division.
  - 2. Members are elected each year to serve for two years beginning the first day of the Fall semester.
  - 3. No member may be elected for more than two consecutive terms.
  - 4. The Committee is elected by mail ballot conducted in accordance with Senate Bylaws.
  - 5. If, because of vacancies or other circumstances, the number of members that needs to be elected each year gets out of balance (e.g., 5 members due to be elected one year, 3 the next), the Committee may reduce one member's term by one year.

6. Notice of Election. The Secretary must mail each voting member of the Division a Notice of the Election no fewer than 21 calendar days prior to the election.

## B. Nominating Petitions

- 1. Nominating Petitions must be filed with the Secretary within 14 calendar days after the Notice of Election are mailed.
- 2. Nominating Petitions must be signed by five voting members of the Division, and must state the school affiliation of the nominee and nominators.
- 3. The nominee must certify willingness to serve if elected.

#### C. Ballots

- 1. At least 7 calendar days before the Election, the Secretary must provide to each voter, either by mail or electronically, a list of all nominees, stating their nominators and school affiliation.
- 2. The list of nominees must be accompanied by a ballot listing the nominees alphabetically. In the case of mail ballots, each voter must receive a plain envelope in which to enclose the marked ballot, and an additional envelope addressed to the Secretary to be used for return of the sealed ballot. The envelope addressed to the Secretary must have a space for the signature of the voter. For electronic voting, the Secretary must use a system that verifies each voter's identity and maintains security. Each voter must be provided access to this system at least 7 calendar days before the Election.
- 3. The voter must be notified that:
  - a. Ballots must be returned to the Secretary before or on the day of election;
  - A ballot is invalid if more names are marked than there are vacancies to be filled, or if a mail ballot, it lacks the voter's signature on the return envelope;
  - c. A voter with a spoiled ballot may obtain another by tearing it in half and returning it to the Secretary.
- 4. In these Bylaws "mail ballot" denotes either a ballot distributed through postal or electronic mail.

#### D. Voting

- 1. Candidates receiving votes on at least 35% of the valid returned ballots will be declared elected.
- 2. If more candidates receive votes on at least 35% of the valid ballots cast than there are vacancies to be filled, those having the highest percentage will be declared elected.
- 3. If fewer candidates receive votes on at least 35% of the valid ballots cast than there are vacancies, a second mail ballot must be taken. It must list the nominees not elected but receiving the highest percentage on the first ballot, but not to exceed twice the number of remaining vacancies.

4. Those receiving the highest percentage on the second ballot are to be declared elected for such vacancies as exist. A tie for the last vacancy is broken by lot.

## E. Powers and Responsibilities

- 1. The Committee will elect its own chair and secretary, and make its own rules of procedure that are not inconsistent with the Bylaws and Regulations of the Senate and the Merced Division. The retiring Committee on Committees will delegate one of its holdover members to call the new Committee on Committees together for the first meeting.
- 2. The Committee will make appointments to fill vacancies in standing or special committees, or to replace officers of the Merced Division, because of resignation, prolonged illness or disability, or dismissal for cause. In making replacement selections, the Committee will consult in confidence with other committees, appointing bodies, and the Divisional Council. A person appointed to fill a vacancy will take office at once and serve for the full remaining term. The Committee will report such replacement appointments to the Division.
- 3. When a vacancy in its own membership occurs, the Committee may appoint a member of the Division to serve the unexpired part of the term. In filling a vacancy, the Committee is instructed to give consideration to nominees not elected but receiving the highest vote in the immediately preceding election.
- 4. The Committee will call for nominees and volunteers from the Faculty to fill positions on committees it appoints, but is not obligated to accept any such nominees and volunteers. No one will be appointed without his or her consent.
- 5. The Committee will solicit and ratify nominations of student members to Committees on Educational Affairs from the appropriate undergraduate and/or graduate student government organizations.
- 6. The Committee will consult in confidence with other committees and with the Divisional Council when making appointments, taking into consideration whether new committee assignments will be overly burdensome for any given faculty member.
- 7. Members of the Committee are eligible to serve as officers of the Division, and as members, chairs, or vice chairs of other Divisional committees.

#### 4. Privilege and Tenure

A. Membership: This Committee has at least five members who may be members of any Division of the Academic Senate.

#### B. Duties

1. Takes cognizance of all matters affecting the privilege or tenure of officers of instruction of the Division.

- 2. The principles and procedures governing its conduct are set forth in Senate Bylaws 334, 335, 336, and 337.
- 3. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee, the Divisional Council, and Senate members on general policies involving academic privileges and tenure.
- 4. Maintains statistical records of grievance, disciplinary and early termination cases at the Merced Division.
- 5. At the conclusion of any grievance, disciplinary, and early termination case, the Committee will promptly report its findings of fact, conclusions, recommendation, and record of the proceedings to the Chancellor, the Chair of Divisional Council, the Chair of the Divisional Committee on Privilege and Tenure, and the Chair of the University Committee on Privilege and Tenure. The findings, conclusions, recommendations, and record of the proceedings shall be confidential to the extent allowed by law and UC policy.

## 5. Faculty Welfare and Academic Freedom

A. Membership: This Committee is composed of at least four members of the Merced Division, with at least one faculty member per school. The Vice Provost for Faculty serves as *ex officio*. At least two of the four should be senior faculty to better serve the interest of the faculty at the systemwide level.

- 1. The committee Chair or a designee (preferably committee member) serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide Committee on Faculty Welfare.
- 2. One committee member serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide University Committee on Academic Freedom.
- 3. Reviews and discusses in a timely fashion matters concerned with the welfare of the Faculty including, but not limited to, salaries, benefits, insurance, retirement, housing, and conditions of employment.
- 4. Advises the Faculty on proposed changes or improvements. Initiates appropriate studies and reports on faculty welfare and potential violations of ethics and/or academic conduct.
- 5. Reviews and makes recommendations with respect to any University-related issues that may affect the academic freedom of the University Community. It is understood that academic freedom includes, but is not necessarily limited to, free inquiry and exchange of ideas, the rights to present material relevant to a course of instruction, to publish or disseminate controversial material or information and to perform research in academic areas. It is understood that academic freedom is to be conjoined with academic responsibility in accordance with APM 010.
- 6. As needed reviews, evaluates and proposes revisions to institutional policies and procedures as they relate to faculty welfare and academic freedom.

## 6. Diversity and Equity

A. Membership: This Committee is composed of 3 members of the Merced Division, preferably one faculty member from each school. The Vice Provost for Faculty serves as *ex officio*.

#### B. Duties

- 1. The Committee Chair or a designee serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide University Committee on Affirmative Action and Diversity.
- 2. Initiates appropriate studies and reports on campus diversity and equity.
- 3. Acts for the Division in all matters of equality and diversity in general and in particular in reference to underrepresented faculty populations.
- 4. As needed reviews, evaluates and proposes revisions to institutional policies and procedures as they relate to equality and diversity.
- 5. Reports to the Division on recruitment, promotion, and retention of faculty from underrepresented groups. The Committee provides advice to the Academic Senate on issues relating to diversity and equal opportunity in the University community.
- 6. Reviews information on diversity and equity provided by campus and systemwide administration and advises the Division and the administration accordingly.

#### 7. Rules and Elections

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least three members who may be members of any Division of the Academic Senate. The Secretary of the Division will serve as chair of this committee.

- 1. Prepares and reports for action by the Divisional Assembly such changes and additions to the Bylaws and Regulations as it may deem advisable; submits to any Faculty of the Merced Division such changes and additions to their Bylaws and Regulations as it may deem advisable. The committee is authorized to make editorial and conforming non-substantive changes in Bylaws and Regulations with regard to numbering, headings, cross-references, organizational titles, details of style, and similar items. It will report such changes to the organization directly concerned.
- 2. Reviews all changes in Bylaws and Regulations submitted to the Divisional Assembly or to a Faculty of the Merced Division by other committees or by individuals to verify and ensure conformity of such proposed legislation with the format and content of the Code of the Academic Senate. The committee or individual responsible for legislation found that is not compatible with the Code of the Academic Senate will be informed of the section(s) of the Code with which the proposed legislation is in conflict.
- 3. Edits and publishes, at intervals as it may deem expedient, the Manual of the Academic Senate, Merced Division.

- 4. Advises the Chair of the Division as to whether proposed legislation is solely of Divisional concern.
- Advises the Division, its officers, committees, faculties, and members in all matters of organization, jurisdiction and interpretation of legislation of the Academic Senate and its agencies.
- 6. Issues, upon a formal request from a member of the Division, legislative rulings interpreting the Code of the Merced Division of the Academic Senate.
  - a. Such rulings will remain in effect until modified by legislative or Regental action.
  - b. Such rulings are subject to review by the Division, either when the report is created or by petition signed by twenty-five voting members of the Division. The final date for filing such petition is 10 days after the minutes of the Division reporting the decision are placed in the mail.
  - c. If the Division disapproves the report of the Committee, the Committee must at once draft legislation that expresses the intent of the Division.
  - d. Rulings of the committee in these matters must be published in the Call for the first regular Division next meeting following the committee's decision. All rulings of the Committee on Rules and Elections not superseded by legislative or Regental action will appear in an appendix of the Divisional Manual.
- 7. Advises the Registrar regarding disposition of his or her responsibilities in administering the Regulations of the Academic Senate and its agencies.
- 8. Supervises all elections of the Division in accordance with rules determined by the Merced Division. The committee also oversees voting on propositions submitted to the Merced Division by ballot.

## 7. Research

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least five members of the Merced Division. . The Vice Chancellor of Research and Economic Development serves as *ex officio*.

- 1. Makes recommendations to the Division on the award of prizes to faculty for research.
- 2. Advises the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the Division, and the Chancellor on planning, management, and budgetary issues related to research.
- 3. Formulates a Senate position on all matters pertaining to research in the Division and acts for the Division in oversight of the Office of Research and Economic Development; makes recommendations to the Chancellor concerning applications by members of the Division for research grants and for travel expenses to attend meetings of learned societies; advises the

- Chancellor or Chancellor's designee in matters relating to research policy; and determines policy pertaining to research funds allocated to the Committee..
- 4. Represents the Division in all matters relating to the review of Organized and Centralized Research Units, Core Facilities, centers, and institutes, including proposals for and reviews of such units.
- 5. Acts for the Division in all matter of Research Safety policy and administration, and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and the Division accordingly.

## Title IV. STANDING COMMITTEES ON EDUCATIONAL AFFAIRS: THEIR POWERS AND DUTIES

These committees include Senate and student members. Student members are appointed, and will serve, in accordance with provisions of Bylaw Part II. Title II.3.B.2.

## 1. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation

A. Membership: This committee consists of at least six members of the Merced Division and two student members: a Chair, a Vice Chair, the Vice Chair of the Division, one Senate member from each School, one graduate student representative, and one undergraduate student representative. Senate membership should include broad representation from schools and academic programs.

- 1. Meets with the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee at the beginning of each academic year for a briefing on all sources of revenue for the Merced campus, the allocation of revenue to units of the campus, and budgetary planning for the succeeding academic year.
- 2. Assesses budgetary proposals and requests, including requests for allocation of faculty positions (FTE) for succeeding academic years.
- Confers with and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and Divisional administrative agencies regarding policy on academic planning, budget and resource allocations.
- 4. Reviews academic units and degree programs as they relate to academic planning, budget, and resource allocation, and reports thereon to the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and/or to the Divisional Council and Divisional Assembly as appropriate.
- 5. On matters relating to academic planning and budget, receives reports from, and maintain liaison with, the Undergraduate Council and the Graduate Council.
- 6. Reports regularly to the Divisional Council and the Divisional Assembly on matters under consideration.
- 7. Receives reports from, and maintains liaison with, the University Committee on Planning and Budget.

## 2. Undergraduate Council

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least ten members of the Merced Division and one student member. Senate membership should include at least one representative from each school that delivers undergraduate programs. The Vice Chancellor of Student Affairs and the Vice Provost and Dean for Undergraduate Education will serve as *ex officio* members.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Consistent with the rights of the Faculties under the Standing Orders of the Regents (105.2.b), establishes policy for undergraduate education on the Merced campus and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee on all matters pertaining to undergraduate education.
- 2. Considers matters involving undergraduate admission and enrollment at Merced.
- 3. Reviews, coordinates, and takes final action on all matters relating to courses of undergraduate instruction, including approval of new courses and modification, withdrawal, conduct, credit valuation, and classification of existing courses.
- 4. Consistent with the rights of the Faculties under the Standing Orders of the Regents (105.2.b), approves or declines to approve, in terms of academic merit, the establishment, discontinuation, or modification of undergraduate programs, majors, minors, and certificates; and reports its conclusions to the Divisional Council.
- 5. Acts on behalf of the Division in reviewing recommendations from the Colleges and Schools concerning the award of undergraduate degrees, certificates, and honors (see Bylaw IV)<sup>1</sup>.
- 6. Defines the goals and establishes criteria for use in reviewing the quality and effectiveness of undergraduate teaching programs and/or majors and is responsible for undergraduate program review.
- 7. Establishes policy and exercises authority on academic disqualifications and/or dismissals as well as overall undergraduate academic transcript notations.
- 8. Initiates, receives, and funds proposals for undergraduate instructional improvement and development.
- 9. Considers and reports on matters referred to it by the Chancellor or Chancellor's Designee, the Chair of the Division, the Divisional Assembly or any other standing committee of the Merced Division, or by the Faculty of any college or school located wholly or in part on the Merced campus.

Title I. DEGREES, CERTIFICATES, HONORS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>PART IV. DEGREES

The Division delegates to the Undergraduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Undergraduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors. The Division delegates to the Graduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Graduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors.

<sup>2.</sup> In reviewing doubtful cases, the Council will consult with the recommending officer.

After forwarding its recommendations, the Council will report such action to the Chair of the Divisional Council and at the next regular meeting of the Division.

- 10. Initiates appropriate studies and reports thereon to the Chancellor or the Chancellor's Designee and/or to the Divisional Assembly as it may deem appropriate upon local matters of a fundamental character involving questions of undergraduate educational policy.
- 11. Exercises in the Division responsibilities regarding preparatory education that are assigned by the systemwide Senate Committee on Preparatory Education and by the Division.
- 12. Recommends to the Chancellor policies related to the awarding of all undergraduate financial aid on the Merced campus.
- 13. Provides guidance, advice, and supervision regarding all academic matters related to the Education Abroad Program, the University of California Washington, DC (UCDC) and the UC Center Sacramento Programs, including student selection, selection of Study Center Directors, and reviews of Study Centers.
- 14. Identifies candidates, normally one of its members, to be nominated by the Committee on Committees to serve as the Merced campus representative to the University Board of Admissions and Relations with Schools, to the University Committee on Educational Policy, to the University Committee on International Education, and to the University Committee on Preparatory Education.
- 15. Nominates members of the Faculty to receive undergraduate Distinguished Teaching Awards and other awards as appropriate.
- 16. Recommends to the President, through the Chancellor, awards of such undergraduate scholarships as are restricted to students on the Merced Campus.
- 17. Advises on undergraduate matters of University Extension.

#### 3. Graduate Council

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least nine members of the Merced Division and one graduate student representative. The Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education serves as *ex officio*.

- 1. Makes policy for graduate education at UC Merced and discharges duties in accordance with the stipulations of <u>Senate Bylaw 330</u>.
- 2. Grants certificates of admission to qualified applicants for graduate status; admits qualified students to candidacy for degrees to be conferred on graduate students; appoints committees in charge of candidates' studies, who will certify for every candidate before recommendation for a higher degree that the candidate has fulfilled the requirements of the University pertaining to that degree. The Graduate Council may delegate all or part of these authorities to the Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education.

- 3. Makes recommendations to the Senate Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs, subject to approval by the Merced Division, concerning new graduate programs leading to existing graduate degrees, the establishment of new graduate degrees and any substantial change to existing graduate programs.
- 4. Authorizes, supervises and regulates all graduate courses and graduate programs of instruction. The Graduate Council will coordinate with the Undergraduate Council in carrying out these duties for conjoined graduate courses.
- 5. Periodically reviews and evaluates all graduate programs of study in coordination with the Undergraduate Council, and the Periodic Review Oversight Committee, as appropriate.
- 6. Acts on behalf of the Division in reviewing recommendations from the Graduate Division concerning the award of graduate degrees, certificates, and honors (see UCM Bylaw Part IV).
- 7. Advises the Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education on allocation of graduate student support funds and recommends the award of all fellowships and graduate scholarships and prizes. Annually, determines the Outstanding Teaching Assistant Award.
- 8. Sets policies and standards for appointment of graduate students to be Teaching Assistants, Teaching Fellows, Research Assistants, and recipients of University Fellowships.
- 9. Makes recommendations to the Division on the award of prizes to faculty for graduate teaching.
- 10. Considers any graduate student policy issue or relevant aspect of student affairs insofar as these have educational implications or may affect the academic quality of the institution; advises the Graduate Division, Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor, and the Chancellor on any such issue. In carrying out this function, the Council will coordinate with the Undergraduate Council, as appropriate.
- 11. Consistent with Senate Bylaws 20 and 330C, the Graduate Council may delegate to the Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education routine administrative decisions related to the regulations and policies of the Graduate Council and other matters to its committees or executive officers. The Graduate Council will monitor and review these delegated decisions on an annual basis, and revise its delegation guidelines accordingly.
- 12. Advises the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the Division, Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor, and the Chancellor on planning, management, and budgetary issues related to graduate education needs.
- 13. Advises on graduate matters of University Extension.
- 4. Library and Scholarly Communication

A. Membership: This committee consists of at least four members of the Merced Division and two student members. Representation includes four individuals who are contemporarily members of the Committee on Research, Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, and Graduate Council, respectively. The committee also includes one graduate student member and one undergraduate student member. The University Librarian and the Chief Information Officer serve as *ex officio*.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and the Division regarding the administration of the University Library, in accordance with the Standing Orders of The Regents.
- 2. Makes recommendations to the Division on matters concerning the role of the University Library in the acquisition, storage, and provision of scholarly materials, as well as other resources for scholarly communication. These matters include, but are not restricted to, the formulation of University Library policies, the management of the University Library, the University Library budget, the apportionment of related funds, and the allocation of associated space.
- 3. Maintains liaison with the administration of the University Library on behalf of the Division.
- 4. Prepares and submits to the Division an annual report on the status of the University Library, as well as related resources for scholarly communication.

## PART III. FACULTIES

## Title I. GENERAL FUNCTIONS AND POWERS

- 1. The government and supervision of any college or school established by The Regents on the Merced campus is vested in the Faculty of that college or school, and such Faculty are directly responsible to the Merced Division as a committee of the Division. Nothing in Part III may have precedence over rules established by the Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs or the Graduate Council of the Merced Division regarding graduate study and higher degrees.
- 2. The membership of each Faculty is defined by Bylaws of the Merced Division in accordance with the provision of Academic Senate Bylaw 45. Only voting members of the Academic Senate are eligible to vote in the Faculty or Faculties of which they are members.
- 3. Each Faculty is authorized to organize, to select its officers and committees, and to adopt any procedural rules and regulations consistent with Bylaws and legislation of the Academic Senate and the Merced Division. The dean of a college or school is an *ex officio* member of the executive committee of its Faculty. No member of the Division holding an administrative title of Chancellor, Vice Chancellor, Dean, Associate Dean or titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility may serve as Chair of the Faculty

- or of the Executive Committee. The chair of a Faculty and members of its executive committee are chosen by the faculty.
- 4. Each Faculty is authorized to establish requirements for graduation in addition to University requirements.
- 5. Each Faculty is authorized to present to the Divisional Assembly recommendations and proposed modifications of legislation of the Division or of the Academic Senate. At its discretion, a Faculty may delegate portions of its authority to its committees or executive officers. The Merced Division or the Assembly may from time to time impose specific duties on a Faculty.
- 6. A Faculty is not responsible for student discipline.

## Title II. LIST OF FACULTIES AND THEIR MEMBERSHIP

- 1. The Faculties of Merced are:
  - A. School of Engineering
  - B. School of Natural Sciences
  - C. School of Social Science, Humanities and Arts
  - D. College One
- 2. Faculty Membership:
  - A. The members of the Faculties of Engineering; Natural Sciences; and Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts are the members of the Merced Division who hold appointments in the corresponding Schools.
  - B. The following are *ex officio* non-voting members of the Faculty of each School: (Am 04 May 06)
    - 1. The President of the University
    - 2. The Chancellor at Merced
    - 3. The Executive Vice Chancellor and Provost
    - 4. The Dean of the School
  - C. The members of the Faculty of College One are all of the members of the Faculties of Engineering, Natural Sciences, and Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts.

## PART IV. DEGREES

## Title I. DEGREES, CERTIFICATES, HONORS

- The Division delegates to the Undergraduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Undergraduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors. The Division delegates to the Graduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Graduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors.
- 2. In reviewing doubtful cases, the Council will consult with the recommending officer.
- 3. After forwarding its recommendations, the Council will report such action to the Chair of the Divisional Council and at the next regular meeting of the Division.

## PART V. LEGISLATIVE BUSINESS

## Title I. VOTING REQUIREMENTS

- 1. Enactment, amendment or repeal of the Bylaws requires a two-thirds vote of those present and voting at a meeting of the Division or of those voting by mail ballot.
- 2. Modification of Regulations requires approval of a majority of those present and voting or of those voting by mail ballot.
- 3. All other business requires a majority of the votes cast.
- 4. Abstentions will not count in the calculation of the two-thirds vote required for approval of Bylaws or the majority necessary to pass Regulations, or modification of either.

#### Title II. MAIL BALLOT

A mail ballot must be held on any issue if a majority of the voting members present at a meeting of the Division so orders. Mail ballots are held in accordance with Senate Bylaws 95 and 340.

#### Title III. PRIOR NOTICE

- 1. Legislative Changes: The full text of proposed modification of Divisional or Senate legislation that is to be acted on at a meeting of the Division must be sent at least seven calendar days prior to the meeting.
- 2. Business Not Noticed
  - A. At a Regular Meeting, the Division may take up any other business, except legislation noted in Bylaw V.3.A above, whether or not noticed in the call to meeting. But, if not so noticed, such business can be acted upon finally only after members present have consented so to act by two-thirds of the votes cast.
  - B. At a Special or Emergency Meeting, Business Not Noticed in the call to meeting can be taken up only after unanimous consent, and can be acted upon finally only after members present have consented so to act by two-thirds of the votes cast.

#### Title IV. PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Questions of order not covered by legislation are governed by the "Sturgis Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure" for all rules of order except that of *division of a Question* in matters that are not covered by Senate legislation. For the *division of a Question*, Robert's Rules of Order should apply.

## Title V. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. The items of business deemed non-controversial by the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Division may be placed on a Consent Calendar printed in the Notice of Meeting under Special Orders.

Approval of all business on the Consent Calendar requires a single unanimous vote. Any objection to an item on the Consent Calendar is removed and becomes the subject of New Business.

## Title VI. DEFINITIONS (from the Bylaws of the Academic Senate)

- 1. The term "modification of legislation" means enactment of new legislation and amendment or repeal of existing legislation.
- 2. The term "legislation" denotes only Bylaws and Regulations of Senate agencies.
- 3. The term "memorial" designates a declaration or petition addressed to the President for transmission to the Regents.
- 4. The term "resolution" designates a declaration or petition to the President not intended for transmission to the Regents.
- 5. The term "legislative agency" denotes only:
  - A. The Assembly of the Academic Senate;
  - B. A Division of the Academic Senate;
  - C. An Assembly of the Division.

Abbreviations used in reference to Senate legislation are:

- A Approved by the Assembly of the Academic Senate
- Am Amended
- CC Conforming Change
- EC Editorial Change
- En Enacted
- Rp Repealed

#### PART I. MERCED DIVISION

#### Title I. AUTHORITY AND FUNCTIONS

- 1. The Merced Division is a committee of the University of California Academic Senate. It has authority to:
  - A. Select its own officers and committees and adopt rules for the conduct of its business;
  - B. Receive and consider reports and recommendations from the Faculties of colleges and schools located wholly or partly on the Merced Campus, from its Divisional committees, from local administrative officers, and from other Divisions;
  - C. Originate and take final action on legislation substantially affecting only the Division;
  - D. Establish Faculties in schools and colleges located wholly on the Merced Campus;
  - E. Report directly to the President resolutions on matters of University concern, and copy the Assembly of the Academic Senate;
  - F. Initiate Memorials to the Regents; and
  - G. Submit reports and recommendations concerning changes in Senate legislation and other related matters to the Senate or to the Assembly.
- 2. The Merced Division authorizes and supervises all courses of instruction in the colleges and schools on the Merced campus, except when otherwise specified in the Bylaws of the University Academic Senate or in the Standing Orders of The Regents. The Division recommends to the President of the University all candidates for degrees who complete requirements for those degrees in a school, college, or graduate division subject to the jurisdiction of the Division.
- 3. All Merced Division business will be transacted by the Divisional Assembly of the Division except when specified otherwise in these bylaws.

## Title II. MEMBERSHIP

- 1. Members of the Division are:
  - A. The President of the University;
  - B. The Chancellor, Vice Chancellors, Provosts, Deans, Directors of academic programs, the chief admissions officer, Registrar, and University Librarian at Merced;
  - C. All members of the Academic Senate of the University of California whose duties lie primarily on the Merced campus;
  - D. Academic Senate members holding statewide appointments only, and not enrolled in another Division, who choose to enroll in this Division by informing the Secretary of the Division.
- 2. Membership does not lapse because of leave of absence or transfer to emeritus status.

3. The Committee on Rules and Elections determines whether a person meets the requirements for membership.

#### Title III. OFFICERS OF THE DIVISION

#### 1. Chair

A. Term: The Chair of the Division is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a one-year term beginning the first day of the Fall semester. The Chair ordinarily succeeds to this office and to Chair of the Divisional Council after serving as Vice Chair of the Division and of the Council in the previous year.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Serves as Chair of the Division and of the Divisional Council.
- 2. Serves as an *ex officio* voting member of the Assembly of the Academic Senate and of the Academic Council, and as Chair of the Divisional Committee on Assembly Representation.
- 3. Sits, by invitation or at one's own discretion, without vote, in deliberations of any committee of the Division except the Committee on Academic Personnel when personnel cases are discussed and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure when individual grievance or discipline cases are discussed.
- 4. Refers matters to the officers or agencies of the Division and of the Administration, as appropriate.

#### 2. Vice Chair

A. Term: The Vice Chair of the Division and of the Divisional Council is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a one-year term that starts on the first day of the Fall semester.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Serves as Vice Chair of both the Division and the Divisional Council.
- 2. Serves as Chair when the Chair is unable to serve.
- 3. Presides at meetings of the Divisional Assembly when the Chair is unable to attend.
- 4. Serves as Acting Chair until a replacement chair is appointed by the Committee on Committees in the event of death, resignation, or prolonged incapacity of a Chair.
- 5. Performs duties as assigned by the Chair of the Division.
- 6. Sits, by invitation or at one's own discretion, without voting rights, in deliberations of any Division committee except for Committee on Committees and Committee on Academic Personnel when personnel cases are discussed, and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure when individual grievance or discipline cases are discussed.

#### 3. Secretary/Parliamentarian

A. Term: The Secretary is appointed by the Committee on Committees to serve a twoyear term, subject to reappointment, beginning on the first day of the Fall semester.

#### B. Duties

- 1. Prepares the Call and Minutes for each meeting of the Division in accordance with Senate Bylaws.
- 2. Assumes the duties of Chair in the absence of both the Chair and Vice Chair.
- 3. Performs such duties as assigned by the Chair of the Division.
- 4. Maintains a complete file of the Senate of minutes, reports, and agendas of all Divisional committees and other Senate agencies.
- 5. Serves as Parliamentarian for all meetings of the Division.
- 6. Issues notices for all meetings of the Representative Assembly to all members of the Division, keeps and distributes the minutes of all such meetings to all members of the Division, and keeps a permanent file of all calls and notices of meetings of the Assembly of the Academic Senate along with any appended material.
- 7. Sends a copy of the Bylaws of the Merced Division that relate to the work of the committee in question to each committee chair at the beginning of the academic year.
- 8. Conducts all elections in the Merced Division that require a ballot under the supervision of the Committee on Rules and Elections.
- 9. Maintains Merced Division archives, including all policies adopted by any Divisional committee.

#### 4. Executive Office

A. The Executive Office of the Division is under the general supervision of the Chair. It includes such analytical, administrative, and clerical employees as are made available to the Division and its committees.

- 1. Be the depository of all records of the Division.
- 2. Assist in the preparation and distribution of calls and minutes for meetings of the Division, reports of committees, questionnaires, and other materials required in the work of the Division and its committees.
- 3. Maintain current files of all minutes, agendas, calls, and reports of standing and special committees submitted to the Division.
- 4. Establish and maintain files showing the current membership in the Division, the Senate and Divisional committee service of each Division member, and the current membership of all standing and special committees of the Division.
- 5. Generally assist the officers of the Division in the discharge of their duties as officers.
- 6. All records of the Executive Office except those concerning matters not to be reported directly to the Division and for good cause held confidential, are open for inspection by any member of the Division.

## 5. Divisional Representatives

- A. The Merced Division will be represented in the Assembly of the Academic Senate by the Chair of the Division *ex officio* and by the number of Divisional Representatives authorized by the University Academic Senate.
- B. Before February 1 each year, the Secretary will initiate the election of the Divisional Representatives. Election of Divisional Representatives will be by ballot in accordance with Bylaw Part II. Title III. 3.C3. C. If the total number of nominations received is not equal to at least twice the number of positions to be filled, the Committee on Committees will make nominations, if any, up to at least the number of positions to be filled.
- C. As many Divisional Representatives as there are terms to be filled will be elected each year, and elected Representatives will serve for terms of two years. The Committee on Committees of the Merced Division will appoint Divisional Representatives as necessary to complete any unfulfilled term or terms. No member of the Senate will serve as a Divisional Representative for more than two consecutive terms, but he or she will become eligible to serve again after the lapse of two or more years following conclusion of his or her second consecutive term.
- D. First, second and third alternate Divisional Representatives to serve in the absence or disability of any regular Representative of the Assembly will be selected by the Committee on Committees immediately following the election of the regular Divisional Representatives. Each alternate Divisional Representative will serve a two-year term.

#### 6. Removal from Office

A. Any officer, Divisional Representative to the Assembly of the Academic Senate, committee or council chair, or member of a committee of the Merced Division may be dismissed for good cause by a two-thirds vote of the Divisional Assembly on the recommendation of the Committee on Committees. Good cause includes the failure to perform the duties of the office or other actions that undermine the effectiveness of a committee or the Division. No one will be dismissed without the opportunity to lay evidence before the Committee on Committees and to answer any charges before the Divisional Assembly.

#### Title IV. DIVISIONAL COUNCIL

1. Composition

The Divisional Council will be composed of up to 15 members, including:

- A. The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Division, who are also Chair and Vice Chair of the Divisional Council, and Chairs of the following Committees:
  - 1. Academic Personnel
  - 2. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
  - 3. Committees

- 4. Faculty Welfare, Diversity, and Welfare and Academic Freedom
- 5. Diversity and Equity
- 65. Graduate Council
- **76**. Research
- **<u>87</u>**. Undergraduate Council
- B. At-Large members elected by the Division. There will be one at-large member per hundred Senate members or fraction thereof, up to a maximum of nine at-large members.
- C. The Secretary of the Division serves as non-voting secretary to the Council.

#### 2. Terms

- A. The Chair and Vice Chair will serve the same terms as their tenure as Chair and Vice Chair of the Division.
- B. Committee Chairs normally will serve during the term of their tenure as committee chair. A committee chair may designate the Vice Chair of that committee to serve in his or her stead on the Divisional Council with approval of the Committee on Committees for one year.
- C. At-Large members will serve two-year terms. Half of these members will be elected each year.
- D. At-Large members will be elected in the same manner and at the same time as members of the Committee on Committees. When candidates are to be elected for both one- and two-year terms, those with larger numbers of votes shall receive two-year terms.
- E. Terms begin on the first day of the Fall semester, unless otherwise designated in Divisional legislation.
- F. A partial term counts as a full term.
- G. Any vacancy between regular elections is filled by the Committee on Committees.

#### 3. Duties

The Divisional Council has the following responsibilities and authority:

- A. Proposes legislation to the Division as it deems necessary.
- B. Acts on behalf of the Division on matters other than legislative matters retained by the Division.
- C. Advises the Division and its officers and representatives on matters of policy.
- D. With the advice of the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the Graduate Council, and the Undergraduate Council, makes recommendations to the Chancellor on the establishment and disestablishment of academic units on the Merced campus, including colleges, schools, and departments.
- E. With the advice of the Committee on Research, makes recommendations to the Chancellor on the establishment or disestablishment of Organized Research Units, centers, institutes, bureaus, and the like.
- F. Receives and distributes to the appropriate agencies reports from Standing and Special Committees of the Division and from academic program and Organized

- Research Unit review committees. Forwards the formal advice of Standing Committees to the Chancellor.
- G. Coordinates activities of Divisional Standing and Special Committees.
- H. Facilitates and expedites consultations between Administration and appropriate committees of the Division; establishes special committees to study and report to the Divisional Assembly on concerns that are not within the jurisdiction of existing committees; is available for consultation with the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee concerning the establishment of Administrative task forces; communicates with appropriate Divisional committees relative to the establishment of task forces by the campus Administration.
- I. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee on the performance of principal administrative officers, such as vice chancellors, deans, and associate deans.
- J. Places routine items on a Consent Calendar to be submitted to a meeting of the Division.
- K. Informs members of the Division of its agenda and actions through regularly circulated reports, public forums, Divisional newsletter, or other channels.
- L. Orders a ballot by mail, if a quorum was not achieved at a Divisional meeting on any matter, including legislation that was presented in the Notice for that meeting.
- M. With the advice of the Committee on Faculty Welfare, Diversity, and Academic Freedom, reports to the Division on matters of University and Faculty welfare, including administrative practices.
- N. Studies and reports conditions that may affect the academic freedom of the University or of individual faculty members.
- O. Sets the size of committees not otherwise specified in these bylaws.
- P. Approves or denies student petitions that diverge from Divisional regulations. This authority may be delegated to the appropriate committees of any college, school or the Graduate Council. If the authority is delegated, each committee must submit a report to the Divisional Council at the end of the academic year summarizing the disposition of the petitions brought to it.
- Q. Acts on behalf of the Merced Division in recommending to the President of the University candidates for degrees and honors in a school, college or graduate division subject to the jurisdiction of the Merced Division. At its discretion, the Divisional Council may recommend candidates under suspension of Divisional and Senate Regulations, provided that each petition submitted by a candidate has been approved by the appropriate faculty or the Graduate Council. Such petitions may include those for the awarding of posthumous degrees. The committee, after forwarding its recommendations to the President, maintains in the Academic Senate Office a record of its actions, including separate lists of the names of candidates recommended under suspension of the Regulations.

#### Title V. DIVISIONAL ASSEMBLY

1. Membership

A. The Divisional Assembly will include all members of the Division as defined in Bylaw Part I. Title II.

## 2. Responsibilities and Functions

- A. The Divisional Assembly is empowered to act on behalf of the Merced Division in the transaction of all business not specifically delegated to other committees of the Division, except as limited below. The Divisional Assembly retains the authority, by a majority vote, to review any policy statement of a Divisional committee and to call up for discussion and determination any policy question pending before a Divisional committee.
- B. Except by the consent of two-thirds of the members present, no action of the Divisional Assembly will become effective until forty-one (41) days after the date of the meeting at which the action was taken.

# 3. Meetings

- A. Regular: The Division holds two regular meetings each academic year, one in the Fall term and the other in the Spring term when the Divisional Council presents its State of the Campus Message.
  - 1. The Chair and Secretary schedule regular meetings.
  - 2. The call to a Regular Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the meeting.

## B. Special

- 1. A Special Meeting of the Division may be called by the Chair. Upon written request of seven voting members, a Special Meeting must be called by the Chair or, in the event of absence or disability, by the Vice Chair.
- 2. The call to a Special Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least five (5) calendar days prior to the meeting.

## C. Emergency

- 1. An Emergency Meeting may be called by the Chair or, in the event of absence or disability, by the Vice Chair, with the concurrence of a majority of the Divisional Council.
- 2. The call to an Emergency Meeting must be sent to all members of the Division at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.
- 3. The order of business shall be that for a Special Meeting. Legislation cannot be enacted nor modified at an Emergency Meeting.

#### 4. Quorum

A. The lesser of forty percent or fifty voting members of the Division are required for a quorum.

#### PART II. COMMITTEES

## Title I. APPOINTMENT AND TERM

## 1. Appointment

A. The Committee on Committees appoints the Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary/Parliamentarian of the Division. The appointments shall be reported for

- confirmation by the Division at the regular spring meeting of the Division. Unless objection is made and an election called for by a majority vote of those present, the appointments shall stand.
- B. Unless these Bylaws specify otherwise, the Committee on Committees appoints all committees and councils of the Division and designates their Chairs and Vice Chairs, members of special committees as the Division may direct, nominees for appointment to administrative committees when called upon by the Chancellor, and members of the Merced Division to serve on the standing committees of the University Academic Senate. All appointments by the Committee on Committees will be reported to the Divisional Council and to the Division.
- C. No member of the Division holding an administrative title of Chancellor, Vice Chancellor, Provost, Vice Provost, Dean, Associate Dean, Director of an ORU or MRU, or titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility, may serve as a member of a Divisional committee or council (with the exception of membership in the Divisional Assembly), or as a Senate representative of the Merced Division to any taskforce, committee, or agency (except in a non-voting, *ex officio* capacity as provided in these Bylaws). Chairs of academic departments or programs, or persons with titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility, may serve on Divisional committees or councils, or as a representative of the Merced Division, with the exception of membership on the Committee on Academic Personnel and the Committee on Privilege and Tenure. (En 21 May 09)

#### 2. Term

- A. Committees are appointed annually to serve for a term of one year, beginning with the first day of the Fall semester, unless otherwise specified. To assist committees with continuity of expertise, reappointment of individuals for a second year will be given strong consideration by the Committee on Committees.
- B. The Vice Chair of each committee will normally succeed to the position of Chair in the following year. The Committee on Committees will normally appoint a new Vice Chair for each committee each year.

# Title II. GENERAL FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES; COMPOSITION

1. Classification of Committees (Am 12 Dec 08)

Standing Committees of the Merced Division of the Academic Senate form two categories:

- A. Committees on Faculty and Senate Affairs, without student members;
- B. Committees on Educational Affairs, with student members.
- 2. General Functions and Responsibilities (Am 12 Dec 08)
  - A. Committees may conduct studies and make recommendations as they deem appropriate, consistent with their charge.
  - B. Members of the Division have the right to be heard by appropriate Divisional Committees.

- C. Each Committee is responsible to the Division and is obligated to report its actions to the Division, but it also has the right to report concurrently to the Assembly of the Academic Senate.
- D. Committees may make recommendations and render service to the President, the Chancellor, other administrative officers, and individual members of the Division, reporting their recommendations to the Division when such reporting is consistent with the original charge to the committee and are in the best interest of the University.
- E. Committees may adopt rules for the conduct of their business consistent with the Bylaws and Regulations of the Division.
- F. Standing Committees or Councils may appoint committees from within their membership and may delegate any part of their responsibility to such committees. The Chair, in consultation with the membership, may appoint any number of individuals or ad hoc committees in response to Senate needs. In so doing, the Chair may consult with the Committee on Committees. However, any Senate member may appeal a decision of such a committee to the Committee that created it.

## 3. Composition of Committees

- A. Committees on Faculty and Senate Affairs
  - 1. Membership: These Committees will be composed solely of Senate members
    - a. Assembly Representation
    - b. Academic Personnel
    - c. Committees
    - d. Privilege and Tenure
    - e. Faculty Welfare <u>- and Diversity, and Academic Freedom</u>
    - f. Diversity and Equity
    - g. Divisional Council
    - h. Rules and Elections
    - i. Research
- B. Committees on Educational Affairs
  - Membership: These Committees will be composed of Senate members appointed by the Committee on Committees, unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, and will include student members:
    - a. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
    - b. Undergraduate Council
    - c. Graduate Council
    - d. Library and Scholarly Communication
  - 2. Student Selection, Appointment, and Participation (Am 21 Mar 07)
    - a. Student members will be eligible to serve on all standing subcommittees of those Committees listed in Bylaw Part II. Title IV.
    - b. Student representatives are nominated for one-year terms by their undergraduate and graduate student associations to sit with Academic Senate committees. Their seating is subject to ratification by

- the Committee on Committees, which, by right, may also withdraw the privilege from student representatives who violate the rules of conduct, or, in flagrant instances, debar any student representatives from the committee in question for a specific period of time. Failure of the student organizations to provide appointee(s) will not interfere with the ongoing function of the Merced Divisional committees.
- c. Student representatives have the privilege of the floor at committee meetings. They may ask for their positions to be recorded in the minutes (if any), but will not vote or enjoy the other rights reserved for voting members.
- d. Student representatives will not be present during discussions of confidential matters, nor have access to documents pertinent to such discussions. Normally, confidential matters are defined as those pertaining to any individual member of the academic community, but when warranted, a committee Chair may declare any other matter confidential.
- e. Student representatives may report to their constituencies on committee transactions, but, both as a courtesy and to confirm the accuracy in reporting are recommended showing a copy of any report to the Chair of the committee in question prior to its dissemination.
- f. Student representatives on committees have the right to participate in committee deliberations but do not have voting privileges. On all formal votes in such committees, the student opinions will be recorded and reported separately.
- 4. Correspondence with Standing Committees of the Academic Senate (see Senate Bylaw 325)
  - A. Academic Personnel, Committees, <u>Library and Scholarly Communication</u> and Privilege and Tenure correspond to the Assembly committees of the same names.
  - B. Faculty Welfare\_\_\_\_ and Academic Freedom corresponds to Assembly committees on Faculty Welfare and \_\_\_ Academic Freedom, \_\_\_
  - <u>C. Diversity and Equity correspond to the Assembly committee on</u> -Affirmative Action and Diversity.
  - <u>DC</u>. Rules and Elections corresponds to the Assembly committee on Rules and Iurisdiction.
  - **ED**. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation corresponds to the Assembly committee on Planning and Budget.
  - <u>FE</u>. Undergraduate Council corresponds to the Assembly committees on Board on Admissions and Relations with Schools, Educational Policy, International Education, and Preparatory Education.
  - **GF**. Graduate Council corresponds to the Assembly Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs.
  - **HC**. Research corresponds to the Assembly committees on Research Policy.

■ Divisional Council corresponds to all other Standing Committees of the Assembly.

# Title III. STANDING COMMITTEES ON FACULTY AND SENATE AFFAIRS: THEIR POWERS AND DUTIES

These Committees are composed solely of Senate members.

- 1. Assembly Representation
  - A. Membership
    - 1. Chair of the Division, who serves as its Chair;
    - 2. Other members of the Division who are *ex officio* voting members of the Assembly of the Academic Senate; (Am 04 May 06)
    - 3. Appointed Divisional Representatives to the Assembly (as prescribed in Senate Bylaw 105.A.4) appointed for two-year terms, at least half of whom will be elected members of the Divisional Council; and
    - 4. Three alternate Divisional Representatives, designated by the Division Chair to serve in the absence of a regular Representative (Legislative Ruling 4.71).

#### 2. Academic Personnel

- A. Membership: This Committee has seven or more members who may be members of other Divisions of the Senate.
- B. Term: Subject to reappointment, members will ordinarily serve a three-year term beginning the first day of the Fall semester.
- C. Duties
  - 1. Represents the Division in all matters and policies relating to appointments, promotions, and academic personnel matters.
  - 2. Makes recommendations to the Chancellor on appointments, promotions, salaries, and other matters related to faculty quality.
  - 3. Makes an annual report to the Division stating the extent to which its recommendations have been accepted by the University administration. This report shall be sufficiently detailed to inform the Division of the effectiveness of the committee as a liaison between the Division and the administration.

## 3. Committees

- A. Membership, Election and term of office
  - 1. This Committee will consist of eight elected members of the Merced Division.
  - 2. Members are elected each year to serve for two years beginning the first day of the Fall semester.
  - 3. No member may be elected for more than two consecutive terms.
  - 4. The Committee is elected by mail ballot conducted in accordance with Senate Bylaws.
  - 5. If, because of vacancies or other circumstances, the number of members that needs to be elected each year gets out of balance (e.g., 5 members due to be elected one year, 3 the next), the Committee may reduce one member's term by one year.

6. Notice of Election. The Secretary must mail each voting member of the Division a Notice of the Election no fewer than 21 calendar days prior to the election.

## B. Nominating Petitions

- 1. Nominating Petitions must be filed with the Secretary within 14 calendar days after the Notice of Election are mailed.
- 2. Nominating Petitions must be signed by five voting members of the Division, and must state the school affiliation of the nominee and nominators.
- 3. The nominee must certify willingness to serve if elected.

#### C. Ballots

- 1. At least 7 calendar days before the Election, the Secretary must provide to each voter, either by mail or electronically, a list of all nominees, stating their nominators and school affiliation.
- 2. The list of nominees must be accompanied by a ballot listing the nominees alphabetically. In the case of mail ballots, each voter must receive a plain envelope in which to enclose the marked ballot, and an additional envelope addressed to the Secretary to be used for return of the sealed ballot. The envelope addressed to the Secretary must have a space for the signature of the voter. For electronic voting, the Secretary must use a system that verifies each voter's identity and maintains security. Each voter must be provided access to this system at least 7 calendar days before the Election.
- 3. The voter must be notified that:
  - a. Ballots must be returned to the Secretary before or on the day of election;
  - b. A ballot is invalid if more names are marked than there are vacancies to be filled, or if a mail ballot, it lacks the voter's signature on the return envelope;
  - c. A voter with a spoiled ballot may obtain another by tearing it in half and returning it to the Secretary.
- 4. In these Bylaws "mail ballot" denotes either a ballot distributed through postal or electronic mail.

### D. Voting

- 1. Candidates receiving votes on at least 35% of the valid returned ballots will be declared elected.
- 2. If more candidates receive votes on at least 35% of the valid ballots cast than there are vacancies to be filled, those having the highest percentage will be declared elected.
- 3. If fewer candidates receive votes on at least 35% of the valid ballots cast than there are vacancies, a second mail ballot must be taken. It must list the nominees not elected but receiving the highest percentage on the first ballot, but not to exceed twice the number of remaining vacancies.

4. Those receiving the highest percentage on the second ballot are to be declared elected for such vacancies as exist. A tie for the last vacancy is broken by lot.

## E. Powers and Responsibilities

- The Committee will elect its own chair and secretary, and make its own rules
  of procedure that are not inconsistent with the Bylaws and Regulations of the
  Senate and the Merced Division. The retiring Committee on Committees will
  delegate one of its holdover members to call the new Committee on
  Committees together for the first meeting.
- 2. The Committee will make appointments to fill vacancies in standing or special committees, or to replace officers of the Merced Division, because of resignation, prolonged illness or disability, or dismissal for cause. In making replacement selections, the Committee will consult in confidence with other committees, appointing bodies, and the Divisional Council. A person appointed to fill a vacancy will take office at once and serve for the full remaining term. The Committee will report such replacement appointments to the Division.
- 3. When a vacancy in its own membership occurs, the Committee may appoint a member of the Division to serve the unexpired part of the term. In filling a vacancy, the Committee is instructed to give consideration to nominees not elected but receiving the highest vote in the immediately preceding election.
- 4. The Committee will call for nominees and volunteers from the Faculty to fill positions on committees it appoints, but is not obligated to accept any such nominees and volunteers. No one will be appointed without his or her consent.
- 5. The Committee will solicit and ratify nominations of student members to Committees on Educational Affairs from the appropriate undergraduate and/or graduate student government organizations.
- 6. The Committee will consult in confidence with other committees and with the Divisional Council when making appointments, taking into consideration whether new committee assignments will be overly burdensome for any given faculty member.
- 7. Members of the Committee are eligible to serve as officers of the Division, and as members, chairs, or vice chairs of other Divisional committees.

## 4. Privilege and Tenure

A. Membership: This Committee has at least five members who may be members of any Division of the Academic Senate.

#### B. Duties

1. Takes cognizance of all matters affecting the privilege or tenure of officers of instruction of the Division.

- 2. The principles and procedures governing its conduct are set forth in Senate Bylaws 334, 335, 336, and 337.
- 3. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee, the Divisional Council, and Senate members on general policies involving academic privileges and tenure.
- 4. Maintains statistical records of grievance, disciplinary and early termination cases at the Merced Division.
- 5. At the conclusion of any grievance, disciplinary, and early termination case, the Committee will promptly report its findings of fact, conclusions, recommendation, and record of the proceedings to the Chancellor, the Chair of Divisional Council, the Chair of the Divisional Committee on Privilege and Tenure, and the Chair of the University Committee on Privilege and Tenure. The findings, conclusions, recommendations, and record of the proceedings shall be confidential to the extent allowed by law and UC policy.
- 5. Faculty Welfare , Diversity, and Academic Freedom
  - A. Membership: This Committee is composed of at least fouriwe members of the Merced Division, with at least one faculty member per school. The Vice Provost for Faculty serves as *ex officio*. At least two of the four should be senior faculty to better serve the interest of the faculty at the systemwide level. It is preferable that members of this committee have previously served, but do not currently serve, on the Privilege and Tenure Committee.

- 1. The committee Chair or a designee <u>(preferably committee member)</u> serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide Committee on Faculty Welfare.
- 2. One committee member serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide University Committee on Affirmative Action and Diversity
- 3.2. One committee member serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide University Committee on Academic Freedom.
- 3. Reviews and <u>discusses considers</u> in a timely fashion matters concerned with the welfare of the Faculty including, but not limited to, salaries, benefits, insurance, retirement, housing, and conditions of employment. The committee will advise the Faculty on proposed changes or improvements.
- 4.—Advises the Faculty on proposed changes or improvements.
- 5.4. Initiates appropriate studies and reports on faculty welfare, campus diversity and equity, and potential violations of ethics and/or academic conduct.
- Acts for the Division in all matters of equality and diversity in general and in particular in reference to underrepresented faculty populations.
- 7.5. Reviews and makes recommendations with respect to any conditions within or without the University-related issues that may affect the academic freedom of the University Community. It is understood that academic freedom includes, but is not necessarily limited to, free inquiry and exchange

- of ideas, the rights to present material relevant to a course of instruction, to publish or disseminate controversial material or information and to perform research in academic areas. It is understood that academic freedom is to be conjoined with academic responsibility in accordance with APM 010.
- 8.6. As needed reviews, evaluates and proposes revisions to institutional policies and procedures as they relate to faculty welfare and academic freedom, equality and diversity.

## 6. Diversity and Equity

A. Membership: This Committee is composed of 3 members of the Merced Division, preferably one faculty member from each school. The Vice Provost for Faculty serves as *ex officio*.

## B. Duties

- 1. The Committee Chair or a designee serves as the Division Representative to the Systemwide University Committee on Affirmative Action and Diversity.
- 2. Initiates appropriate studies and reports on campus diversity and equity.
- 3. Acts for the Division in all matters of equality and diversity in general and in particular in reference to underrepresented faculty populations.
- 4. As needed reviews, evaluates and proposes revisions to institutional policies and procedures as they relate to equality and diversity.
- 5. Reports to the Division on recruitment, promotion, and retention of faculty from underrepresented groups. The Committee provides advice to the Academic Senate on issues relating to diversity and equal opportunity in the University community.
- Reviews information on diversity and equity provided by campus and systemwide administration and advises the Division and the administration accordingly.

## 7. Rules and Elections

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least three members who may be members of any Division of the Academic Senate. The Secretary of the Division will serve as chair of this committee.

- 1. Prepares and reports for action by the Divisional Assembly such changes and additions to the Bylaws and Regulations as it may deem advisable; submits to any Faculty of the Merced Division such changes and additions to their Bylaws and Regulations as it may deem advisable. The committee is authorized to make editorial and conforming non-substantive changes in Bylaws and Regulations with regard to numbering, headings, cross-references, organizational titles, details of style, and similar items. It will report such changes to the organization directly concerned.
- 2. Reviews all changes in Bylaws and Regulations submitted to the Divisional Assembly or to a Faculty of the Merced Division by other committees or by

individuals to verify and ensure conformity of such proposed legislation with the format and content of the Code of the Academic Senate. The committee or individual responsible for legislation found that is not compatible with the Code of the Academic Senate will be informed of the section(s) of the Code with which the proposed legislation is in conflict.

- 3. Edits and publishes, at intervals as it may deem expedient, the Manual of the Academic Senate, Merced Division.
- 4. Advises the Chair of the Division as to whether proposed legislation is solely of Divisional concern.
- 5. Advises the Division, its officers, committees, faculties, and members in all matters of organization, jurisdiction and interpretation of legislation of the Academic Senate and its agencies.
- 6. Issues, upon a formal request from a member of the Division, legislative rulings interpreting the Code of the Merced Division of the Academic Senate.
  - a. Such rulings will remain in effect until modified by legislative or Regental action.
  - b. Such rulings are subject to review by the Division, either when the report is created or by petition signed by twenty-five voting members of the Division. The final date for filing such petition is 10 days after the minutes of the Division reporting the decision are placed in the mail.
  - c. If the Division disapproves the report of the Committee, the Committee must at once draft legislation that expresses the intent of the Division.
  - d. Rulings of the committee in these matters must be published in the Call for the first regular Division next meeting following the committee's decision. All rulings of the Committee on Rules and Elections not superseded by legislative or Regental action will appear in an appendix of the Divisional Manual.
- 7. Advises the Registrar regarding disposition of his or her responsibilities in administering the Regulations of the Academic Senate and its agencies.
- 8. Supervises all elections of the Division in accordance with rules determined by the Merced Division. The committee also oversees voting on propositions submitted to the Merced Division by ballot.

## 7. Research

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least five members of the Merced Division. The Vice Chancellor of Research and Economic Development serves as *ex officio*.

- 1. Makes recommendations to the Division on the award of prizes to faculty for research.
- 2. Advises the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the

- Division, and the Chancellor on planning, management, and budgetary issues related to research, and library needs.
- 3. Formulates a Senate position on all matters pertaining to research in the Division and acts for the Division in oversight of the Office of Research and Economic Development; makes recommendations to the Chancellor concerning applications by members of the Division for research grants and for travel expenses to attend meetings of learned societies; advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee in matters relating to research policy; and determines policy pertaining to research funds allocated to the Committee..
- 4. Represents the Division in all matters relating to the review of Organized and Centralized Research Units, <u>Core Facilities centers, centers and, and institutes</u>, including proposals for and reviews of such units.
- 5. Acts for the Division in all matters of Library policy and administration, and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and the Division accordingly.
- 6.5. Acts for the Division in all matter of Research Safety policy and administration, and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and the Division accordingly.

# Title IV. STANDING COMMITTEES ON EDUCATIONAL AFFAIRS: THEIR POWERS AND DUTIES

These committees include Senate and student members. Student members are appointed, and will serve, in accordance with provisions of Bylaw Part II. Title II.3.B.2.

- 1. Academic Planning and Resource Allocation
  - A. Membership: This committee consists of at least six members of the Merced Division and two student members: a Chair, a Vice Chair, the Vice Chair of the Division, one Senate member from each School, one graduate student representative, and one undergraduate student representative. Senate membership should include broad representation from schools and academic programs.
  - B. Duties
    - 1. Meets with the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee at the beginning of each academic year for a briefing on all sources of revenue for the Merced campus, the allocation of revenue to units of the campus, and budgetary planning for the succeeding academic year.
    - 2. Assesses budgetary proposals and requests, including requests for allocation of faculty positions (FTE) for succeeding academic years.
    - 3. Confers with and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and Divisional administrative agencies regarding policy on academic planning, budget and resource allocations.
    - 4. Initiates and coordinates studies or reviews of existing and proposed academic schools, colleges, and degree programs as they relate to academic planning, budget, and resource allocation, and to report thereon to the

Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and/or to the Divisional Council and Divisional Assembly as it may deem appropriate. Reviews academic units and degree programs as they relate to academic planning, budget, and resource allocation, and reports thereon to the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and/or to the Divisional Council and Divisional Assembly as appropriate.

- 5. On matters relating to academic planning and budget, receives reports from, and maintain liaison with, the Undergraduate Council and the Graduate Council.
- 6. Reports regularly to the Divisional Council and the Divisional Assembly on matters under consideration.
- 7. Receives reports from, and maintains liaison with, the University Committee on Planning and Budget.

## 2. Undergraduate Council

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least ten members of the Merced Division and one student member. Senate membership should include at least one representative from each school that delivers undergraduate programs. The Vice Chancellor of Student Affairs and the Vice Provost and Dean for Undergraduate Education will serve as *ex officio* members.

- 1. Consistent with the rights of the Faculties under the Standing Orders of the Regents (105.2.b), establishes policy for undergraduate education on the Merced campus and advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee on all matters pertaining to undergraduate education.
- 2. Considers matters involving undergraduate admission and enrollment at Merced.
- 3. Reviews, coordinates, and takes final action on all matters relating to courses of undergraduate instruction, including approval of new courses and modification, withdrawal, conduct, credit valuation, and classification of existing courses.
- 4. Consistent with the rights of the Faculties under the Standing Orders of the Regents (105.2.b), approves or declines to approve, in terms of academic merit, the establishment, discontinuation, or modification of undergraduate programs, majors, minors, and certificates; and reports its conclusions to the Divisional Council.
- 5. Acts on behalf of the Division in reviewing recommendations from the Colleges and Schools concerning the award of undergraduate degrees, certificates, and honors (see Bylaw IV)<sup>1</sup>.
- 6. Defines the goals and establishes criteria for use in reviewing the quality and effectiveness of undergraduate teaching programs and/or majors and is responsible for undergraduate program review.

- 7. Establishes policy and exercises authority on academic disqualifications and/or dismissals as well as overall undergraduate academic transcript notations.
- 8. Initiates, receives, and funds proposals for undergraduate instructional improvement and development.
- 9. Considers and reports on matters referred to it by the Chancellor or Chancellor's Designee, the Chair of the Division, the Divisional Assembly or any other standing committee of the Merced Division, or by the Faculty of any college or school located wholly or in part on the Merced campus.

#### <sup>1</sup>PART IV. DEGREES

#### Title I. DEGREES, CERTIFICATES, HONORS

- The Division delegates to the Undergraduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Undergraduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors. The Division delegates to the Graduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Graduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors.
- 2. In reviewing doubtful cases, the Council will consult with the recommending officer.
- After forwarding its recommendations, the Council will report such action to the Chair of the Divisional Council and at the next regular meeting of the Division.
- 10. Initiates appropriate studies and make-reports thereon to the Chancellor or the Chancellor's Designee and/or to the Divisional Assembly as it may deem appropriate upon local matters of a fundamental character involving questions of undergraduate educational policy.
- <u>11.</u>-Exercises in the Division responsibilities regarding preparatory education that are assigned by the systemwide Senate Committee on Preparatory Education and by the Division.
- 12. Recommends to the Chancellor policies related to the awarding of all undergraduate financial aid on the Merced campus.
- 13. Provides guidance, advice, and supervision regarding all academic matters related to the Education Abroad Program, the University of California Washington, DC (UCDC) and the UC Center Sacramento Programs, including student selection, selection of Study Center Directors, and reviews of Study Centers.
- 14. Identifies candidates, normally one of its members, to be nominated by the Committee on Committees to serve as the Merced campus representative to the University Board of Admissions and Relations with Schools, to the
  - 14. Identifies candidates, normally one of its members, to be nominated by the Committee on Committees to serve as the Merced campus representative to the University Board of Admissions and Relations with Schools, to the University Committee on Educational Policy, to the University Committee on International Education, and to the University Committee on Preparatory Education.
- 15. Nominates members of the Faculty to receive undergraduate Distinguished Teaching Awards and other awards as appropriate.

- 16. Recommends to the President, through the Chancellor, awards of such undergraduate scholarships as are restricted to students on the Merced Campus.
- 17. Advises on undergraduate matters of University Extension.

## 3. Graduate Council

A. Membership: This Committee consists of at least <u>ninesix</u> members of the Merced Division and one graduate student representative. The Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education serves as *ex officio*.

- 1. Makes policy for graduate education at <u>UC</u> Merced and discharges duties in accordance with the stipulations of <u>Senate Bylaw 330</u>.
- 2. Grants certificates of admission to qualified applicants for graduate status; admits qualified students to candidacy for degrees to be conferred on graduate students; appoints committees in charge of candidates' studies, who will certify for every candidate before recommendation for a higher degree that the candidate has fulfilled the requirements of the University pertaining to that degree. The Graduate Council may delegate all or part of these authorities to the Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Education.
- 3. Makes recommendations to the Senate Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs, subject to approval by the Merced Division, concerning new graduate programs leading to for existing graduate degrees, higher than the Bachelors degree and the establishment of new graduate degrees higher than the Bachelors degree and any substantial change to existing graduate programs.
- 4. Authorizes, supervises and regulates all graduate courses and graduate programs of instruction. The Graduate Council will coordinate with the Undergraduate Council in carrying out these duties <u>for conjoined graduate courses</u>.
- 5. Periodically reviews and evaluates all graduate programs of study in coordination with the Undergraduate Council, as appropriate and the Periodic Review Oversight Committee, as appropriate.
- 6. Acts on behalf of the Division in reviewing recommendations from the Graduate <u>DivisionSchool</u> concerning the award of graduate degrees, certificates, and honors (see UCM Bylaw Part IV).
- 7. Advises the <u>Vice Provost and</u> Dean of <u>the Graduate Education Division</u> on allocation of graduate student support funds and recommends the award of all fellowships and graduate scholarships and prizes. <u>Annually, determines the Outstanding Teaching Assistant Award.</u>
- 8. Sets policies and standards for appointment of graduate students to be Teaching Assistants, Teaching Fellows, Research Assistants, and recipients of University Fellowships.

- 9. Makes recommendations to the Division on the award of prizes to faculty for graduate teaching.
- 10. Considers any graduate student policy issue or relevant aspect of student affairs insofar as these have educational implications or may affect the academic quality of the institution; advises the Graduate Division, Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor and, and the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee on any such issue. In carrying out this function, the Council will coordinate with the Undergraduate Council, as appropriate.
- 11. Consistent with Senate Bylaws 20 and 330C, the Graduate Council may delegate to the Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate Education Division routine administrative decisions related to the regulations and policies of the Graduate Council and other matters to its committees or executive officers. The Graduate Council will monitor and review these delegated decisions on an annual basis, and revise its delegation guidelines accordingly.
- 12. Advises the Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, the Division, <u>Provost and Executive Vice Chancellor</u>, and the Chancellor on planning, management, and budgetary issues related to graduate education needs.
- 13. Advises on graduate matters of University Extension.

# 4. Library and Scholarly Communication

A. Membership: This committee consists of at least four members of the Merced Division and two student members. Representation includes four individuals who are contemporarily members of the Committee on Research, Committee on Academic Planning and Resource Allocation, and Graduate Council, respectively. The committee also includes one graduate student member and one undergraduate student member. The University Librarian and the Chief Information Officer serve as ex officio.

- 1. Advises the Chancellor or Chancellor's designee and the Division regarding the administration of the University Library, in accordance with the Standing Orders of The Regents.
- 2. Makes recommendations to the Division on matters concerning the role of the University Library in the acquisition, storage, and provision of scholarly materials, as well as other resources for scholarly communication. These matters include, but are not restricted to, the formulation of University Library policies, the management of the University Library, the University Library budget, the apportionment of related funds, and the allocation of associated space.
- 3. Maintains liaison with the administration of the University Library on behalf of the Division.
- 4. Prepares and submits to the Division an annual report on the status of the

<u>University Library, as well as related resources for scholarly</u> communication.

#### PART III. FACULTIES

## Title I. GENERAL FUNCTIONS AND POWERS

- The government and supervision of any college or school established by The Regents on the Merced campus is vested in the Faculty of that college or school, and such Faculty are directly responsible to the Merced Division as a committee of the Division. Nothing in Part III may have precedence over rules established by the Coordinating Committee on Graduate Affairs or the Graduate Council of the Merced Division regarding graduate study and higher degrees.
- 2. The membership of each Faculty is defined by Bylaws of the Merced Division in accordance with the provision of Academic Senate Bylaw 45. Only voting members of the Academic Senate are eligible to vote in the Faculty or Faculties of which they are members.
- 3. Each Faculty is authorized to organize, to select its officers and committees, and to adopt any procedural rules and regulations consistent with Bylaws and legislation of the Academic Senate and the Merced Division. The dean of a college or school is an *ex officio* member of the executive committee of its Faculty. No member of the Division holding an administrative title of Chancellor, Vice Chancellor, Dean, Associate Dean or titles with equivalent levels of administrative responsibility may serve as Chair of the Faculty or of the Executive Committee. The chair of a Faculty and members of its executive committee are chosen by the faculty.
- 4. Each Faculty is authorized to establish requirements for graduation in addition to University requirements.
- 5. Each Faculty is authorized to present to the Divisional Assembly recommendations and proposed modifications of legislation of the Division or of the Academic Senate. At its discretion, a Faculty may delegate portions of its authority to its committees or executive officers. The Merced Division or the Assembly may from time to time impose specific duties on a Faculty.
- 6. A Faculty is not responsible for student discipline.

### Title II. LIST OF FACULTIES AND THEIR MEMBERSHIP

- 1. The Faculties of Merced are:
  - A. School of Engineering
  - B. School of Natural Sciences
  - C. School of Social Science, Humanities and Arts
  - D. College One
- 2. Faculty Membership:
  - A. The members of the Faculties of Engineering; Natural Sciences; and Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts are the members of the Merced Division who hold appointments in the corresponding Schools.

- B. The following are *ex officio* non-voting members of the Faculty of each School: (Am 04 May 06)
  - 1. The President of the University
  - 2. The Chancellor at Merced
  - 3. The Executive Vice Chancellor and Provost
  - 4. The Dean of the School
- C. The members of the Faculty of College One are all of the members of the Faculties of Engineering, Natural Sciences, and Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts.

## PART IV. DEGREES

## Title I. DEGREES, CERTIFICATES, HONORS

- The Division delegates to the Undergraduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Undergraduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors. The Division delegates to the Graduate Council its authority to recommend to the Chancellor at Merced, for transmittal to the President of the University, candidates for Graduate Degrees, Certificates, and Honors.
- 2. In reviewing doubtful cases, the Council will consult with the recommending officer.
- 3. After forwarding its recommendations, the Council will report such action to the Chair of the Divisional Council and at the next regular meeting of the Division.

### PART V. LEGISLATIVE BUSINESS

## Title I. VOTING REQUIREMENTS

- 1. Enactment, amendment or repeal of the Bylaws requires a two-thirds vote of those present and voting at a meeting of the Division or of those voting by mail ballot.
- 2. Modification of Regulations requires approval of a majority of those present and voting or of those voting by mail ballot.
- 3. All other business requires a majority of the votes cast.
- 4. Abstentions will not count in the calculation of the two-thirds vote required for approval of Bylaws or the majority necessary to pass Regulations, or modification of either.

#### Title II. MAIL BALLOT

A mail ballot must be held on any issue if a majority of the voting members present at a meeting of the Division so orders. Mail ballots are held in accordance with Senate Bylaws 95 and 340.

## Title III. PRIOR NOTICE

- 1. Legislative Changes: The full text of proposed modification of Divisional or Senate legislation that is to be acted on at a meeting of the Division must be sent at least seven calendar days prior to the meeting.
- 2. Business Not Noticed
  - A. At a Regular Meeting, the Division may take up any other business, except legislation noted in Bylaw V.3.A above, whether or not noticed in the call to meeting. But, if not so noticed, such business can be acted upon finally only after members present have consented so to act by two-thirds of the votes cast.
  - B. At a Special or Emergency Meeting, Business Not Noticed in the call to meeting can be taken up only after unanimous consent, and can be acted upon finally only after members present have consented so to act by two-thirds of the votes cast.

## Title IV. PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Questions of order not covered by legislation are governed by the "Sturgis Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure" for all rules of order except that of *division of a Question* in matters that are not covered by Senate legislation. For the *division of a Question*, Robert's Rules of Order should apply.

#### Title V. CONSENT CALENDAR

- The items of business deemed non-controversial by the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Division may be placed on a Consent Calendar printed in the Notice of Meeting under Special Orders.
- 2. Approval of all business on the Consent Calendar requires a single unanimous vote. Any objection to an item on the Consent Calendar is removed and becomes the subject of New Business.

## Title VI. DEFINITIONS (from the Bylaws of the Academic Senate)

- 1. The term "modification of legislation" means enactment of new legislation and amendment or repeal of existing legislation.
- 2. The term "legislation" denotes only Bylaws and Regulations of Senate agencies.
- 3. The term "memorial" designates a declaration or petition addressed to the President for transmission to the Regents.
- 4. The term "resolution" designates a declaration or petition to the President not intended for transmission to the Regents.
- 5. The term "legislative agency" denotes only:
  - A. The Assembly of the Academic Senate;
  - B. A Division of the Academic Senate;
  - C. An Assembly of the Division.

# Abbreviations used in reference to Senate legislation are:

A Approved by the Assembly of the Academic Senate

Am Amended

CC Conforming Change

EC Editorial Change

En Enacted

Rp Repealed